
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee 

 
Date: WEDNESDAY, 30 NOVEMBER 2022 

Time: 11.00 am 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOMS, WEST WING, GUILDHALL 

 
Members: Deputy Christopher Boden (Chair) 

David Sales (Deputy Chairman) 
 

Andrew Mayer 
Steve Stevenson, Healthwatch City of 
London representative 
 

 
 
Enquiries: Ben Dunleavy 

 
ben.dunleavy@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 
 

Accessing the virtual public meeting 
 

Members of the public can observe this virtual public meeting at the below link: 
https://youtu.be/_XXCgB6LxJI   

 
A recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of 
the public meeting for up to one civic year. Please note: Online meeting recordings do not 
constitute the formal minutes of the meeting; minutes are written and are available on the 
City of London Corporation’s website. Recordings may be edited, at the discretion of the 
proper officer, to remove any inappropriate material. 

 

 
John Barradell 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 
 

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/_XXCgB6LxJI


2 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

Part 1 - Public Reports 
 
1. APOLOGIES 

 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 

 
 

3. MINUTES 
For Decision 

 
 

 a) Note of inquorate meeting - 27 September 2022  (Pages 5 - 10) 
 

  To agree the public note of of the inquorate meeting held on 27 September 
2022. 
 

 b) Minutes - 21 July 2022  (Pages 11 - 14) 
 

  To agree the public minutes of the meeting held on 21 July 2022.  
 

4. WORKPLAN 
 

 To review the Committee’s workplan. 
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 15 - 16) 

 
5. ANNUAL TERMS OF REFERENCE REVIEW 
 

 Report of the Town Clerk. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 17 - 20) 

 
6. EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES FOR PEOPLE WITH LEARNING DISABILITIES 

AND AUTISM 
 

 Officers from Community and Children’s Services to be heard. 
 

 For Discussion 
  

 
 
 
 



3 
 

7. CITY AND HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 
2021/22 

 

 Report of the Independent Chair of the City and Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board. 
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 21 - 96) 

 
8. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 

 
 

9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
 
 

10. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 MOTION - That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of the Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act. 
 

  
 

Part 2 - Non-Public Reports 
 
11. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 

 
 

12. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
Tuesday, 27 September 2022  

 
Minutes of the meeting of the Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee held at 

Committee Rooms, West Wing, Guildhall on Tuesday, 27 September 2022 at 11.00 
am 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Deputy Christopher Boden (Chairman) 
Alderman Christopher Makin 
Andrew Mayer 
 

 
Officers: 
Ben Dunleavy - Town Clerk's Department 

Simon Cribbens - Community and Children's Services 
Department 

Diana Divajeva - Community and Children's Services 
Department 

Chris Lovitt - Community and Children's Services 
Department 

Ellie Ward - Community and Children's Services 
Department 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
Apologies were received from David Sales. 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
There were no declarations. 
 

3. MINUTES  
The public minutes of the meeting held on 21 July 2022 were noted, and no 
corrections were suggested. 
 

4. WORKPLAN  
Members reviewed the Committee’s workplan and the list of suggested topics. 
 
The Chairman requested that two additional topics be added to the list:  

• system priorities for health and social care and NEL ICB intelligence; 
and  

• facilitation of employment opportunities for people with learning 
disabilities and autism  

 
It was suggested to spread the proposed topics over the next four meetings as 
follows: 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3a



November 2022 

• Adult Safeguarding Board Annual Report  

• Employment Opportunities for people with Learning Disabilities and 
Autism 

• Public Involvement and Transparency in the ICS 
 
January 2023 

• Surgery capacity  

• Early Intervention and Prevention Services  

• System Priorities for health and social care and NEL ICB intelligence 
 
May 2023 

• Children in social care 

• Untoward incidents within health providers which work with the City of 
London Corporation 

• Impact on older people of COVID and related government support 
measures  

 
October 2023 

• Government policy on adult social care 

• Making Every Contact Count Initiative Impact Report 

• Health Visiting Services for new born children  
 

5. ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE COMMITTEE'S TERMS OF REFERENCE  
Members received a report of the Town Clerk relative to the annual review of 
the Committee’s terms of reference. 
 
The Chairman requested that the terms of reference be amended to make 
specific reference to the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013. 
 

6. HEALTH AND CARE ACT 2022  
Members received a report of the Director of Community and Children’s 
Services relative to the Health and Care Act 2022. 
 
The Chairman said that he appreciated that new Members may find it difficult to 
learn the acronyms used and requested that Members should ask officers for 
clarification when they came across unknown acronyms. An officer said that a 
list of acronyms would be kept and updated, and included with the work plan on 
the agenda for each Committee meeting. 
 
Officers informed Members that although the functions of the former City and 
Hackney Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) were now discharged at the 
North East London (NEL) level, NEL’s intention was to devolve as much 
responsibility back down to the City and Hackney place, to allow areas to be 
commissioned at the most effective level. It was suggested that the Committee 
may want to consider scrutinising how funding would come down to the local 
level at a future meeting. 

Page 6



 
A Member asked if officers could identify who the winners and losers in the new 
arrangement were. In reply, officers said that the one positive aspect of the 
change was that the City Corporation was working as part of a bigger entity, 
which would allow greater leverage and access to data. An officer added that 
they were not sure what the government had set as the parameters of success 
for the reforms, but understood that they thought it would provide a more 
rational approach, and suggested that this may be an area that the Committee 
would want to scrutinise in due course.  
 
The Chairman suggested that the changes would give local authorities greater 
control, and might leave GPs in a weaker position. In reply to a question from a 
Member, asked if it would contribute to the migration of doctors away from GP 
services. Officers replied that they thought GP delivery would remain in the 
model of independent practices.  
 
The Chairman said that while the reforms meant that greater cooperation was 
expected and required, local authorities would be cooperating in the same 
financial silos. He thought the reforms had led to an expected change in tone 
but did not expect to see massive results. 
 

7. HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE PRINCIPLES  
Members received a report of the Director of Community and Children’s 
Services with regards to the principles of health overview and scrutiny 
committees. 
  
An officer said that Members may wish to consider the relationship between the 
different types of health overview and scrutiny committees 
 
Members noted an officer’s update on the relationship between Inner and Outer 
North East London joint health overview and scrutiny committees, and whether 
reports which went to the larger body should also be seen by the local scrutiny 
committee. The legislation on these bodies stated that that there were the 
choice was available, the NHS could go to a larger scrutiny. They felt it was 
worth ensuring there was clarity about the relationship and that papers going to 
INEL also went to this, or back to the larger one.  
 
An officer suggested that, when INEL colleagues were invited to Committee 
meetings, Members could raise the issue of how they intend to interact with the 
eight local authority scrutiny committees that they are responsible to. 
 
The Chairman suggested that officers approach the INEL JHOSC for their 
forward work plan so that the Committee could consider whether topics on that 
plan are areas the Committee would want to look at, or how the Committee 
would be represented at that level. 
 

8. EXCESS DEATHS  
Members received a presentation from the Principal Public Health Analyst on 
the subject of excess winter deaths. 
 

Page 7



Members discussed the impact of changing weather conditions on public 
health. A Member asked if, while the warming climate may lead to an increased 
risk of excess summer deaths, the net effect on health would likely be positive, 
as it could also lead to fewer excess deaths during warmer winters. Officers 
replied that they could not predict future climate conditions, and it was not 
necessarily the case that it would lead to milder winters in the UK. There were 
other factors such as energy poverty, the cost of living crisis, and the impact of 
more extreme weather conditions on housing infrastructure that also needed to 
be considered. The key point from a public health perspective was that 
extremes of either high or low temperatures were bad, and the risks to public 
health were exacerbated when there were populations with underlying health 
conditions.  
 
The Chairman commented that the City had an unusual demographic profile, as 
it did not contain any areas where there was particularly high deprivation, but 
did have some where deprivation was particularly low. Officers replied that 
some areas of the city, such as Portsoken Ward, contained a number of 
residents who shared the characteristics of the lowest levels of deprivation, but 
the numbers were so small that they were often hidden by the rest of the 
population.  
 
In reply to a question from the Chairman on the correlation between deprivation 
and excess deaths than with other areas, officers said that there was also a 
correlation between age and underlying conditions. The City contained a higher 
proportion of old people, and the excess deaths experienced in this group might 
may arise due to older people being more likely to have underlying health 
conditions and having greater vulnerability to viruses that may be circulating. 
Officers said it may be useful, considering the small size of the City’s resident 
population, to improve communications on preventing catching viruses.  
 
The Chairman asked why there appeared to be a concentration on preventing 
avoidable deaths for those under the age 75. Officers replied that public health 
authorities distinguished between life expectancy at birth and a healthy life 
expectancy, and the fundamental goal was for people to stay healthy for as 
long as possible.  
 

9. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

10. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
There was no other business. 
 

 
 
The meeting ended at 12.23 pm 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 

Page 8



 
 
 
Contact Officer: Ben Dunleavy 
 
ben.dunleavy@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
Thursday, 21 July 2022  

 
Minutes of the meeting of the Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee held at 
Committee Rooms, West Wing, Guildhall on Thursday, 21 July 2022 at 11.30 am 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Deputy Christopher Boden (Chairman) 
Alderman Christopher Makin 
Andrew Mayer 
David Sales (Deputy Chairman) 
 

 
Officers: 
Ben Dunleavy - Town Clerk's Department 

Kate Bygrave - Community and Children's Services 
Department 

Simon Cribbens - Community and Children's Services 
Department 

Ellie Ward - Community and Children's Services 
Department 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
There were no apologies. 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
There were no declarations. 
 

3. ORDER OF THE COURT OF COMMON COUNCIL  
The Committee received the Order of the Court of Common Council of  
Thursday 21 April 2022, appointing the Committee and approving its Terms of  
Reference. 
 

4. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN  
The Committee proceeded to elect a Chairman in accordance with Standing 
Order No. 29. Deputy Christopher Boden, being the only Member expressing 
willingness to serve, was duly elected Chairman for the ensuing year. 
 

5. ELECTION OF DEPUTY CHAIRMAN  
The Committee proceeded to elect a Deputy Chairman in accordance with 
Standing Order No.30. David Sales, being the only Member who expressed a 
willingness to serve, was duly elected as Deputy Chairman of the Committee 
for the ensuing year. 
 

6. CO-OPTION OF A HEALTHWATCH REPRESENTATIVE  

Page 11

Agenda Item 3b



The Committee proceeded to elect a Co-Opted Member as a Health Watch 
Representative. Steve Stevenson, the only Member expressing willingness to 
serve, was duly elected to the position for the ensuing year. 
 

7. APPOINTMENT OF INNER NORTH EAST LONDON JOINT HEALTH 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPRESENTATIVE(S)  
RESOLVED – That the Deputy Chairman be appointed to the Inner North East 
London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
 

8. MINUTES  
RESOLVED – That the public minutes of the meeting held on 2 February 2022 
be agreed as a correct record. 
 

9. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 
At the request of the Chairman, officers undertook to prepare a paper on 
integrated care systems for the next meeting. Officers also confirmed that a 
paper on the role of health and social care scrutiny committees would be taken 
to the next meeting. The Healthwatch representative said that lines of 
communication with the Integrated Care Partnership Board should be 
maintained, and suggested that Members of that Board be invited to observe 
Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee meetings. 
 
A Member raised their concerns on the issue of excess deaths from extreme 
weather events, including extreme heat and cold. They requested that officers 
return with a paper on the performance of the NHS on excess death from cold 
weather, including statistics from the local area as appropriate. The Chairman 
said that statistics were often not easily available for the area covered by the 
City of London Corporation, but agreed that it was a valid topic to raise. 
 
At the request of a Member for material to aid them in preparing for Committee 
meetings, officers undertook to circulate explanatory information on the areas 
scrutinised by the Committee. 
 

10. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
The Town Clerk updated Members on the meetings scheduled for 2023: 
 

• Wednesday 1 Feb at 11am 

• Wednesday 7 June at 11am 

• Wednesday 4 October at 11am 
 

 
 
The meeting ended at 11.46 am 
 
 
 

 

Page 12



Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Ben Dunleavy 
 
ben.dunleavy@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee 

2023 dates 

• 18 January 2023 

• 9 May 2023 

• 4 October 2023 

Workplan 

 Topic  Suggested Meeting 

 Adult Safeguarding Board Annual Report  November 2022 

 Employment Opportunities for people with Learning 
Disabilities and Autism 

November 2022 

 Public Involvement and Transparency in the ICS January 2023 

 Surgery capacity  January 2023 

 Early Intervention and Prevention Services  January 2023 

 System Priorities for health and social care and NEL ICB 
intelligence 

January 2023 

 Children in social care May 2023 

 Untoward incidents within health providers which work 
with the City of London Corporation  

May 2023 

 Impact on older people of COVID and related 
government support measures  

May 2023 

 Government policy on adult social care October 2023 

 Making Every Contact Count Initiative Impact Report October 2023 

 Health Visiting Services for new born children  October 2023 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



Committee(s): 
Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee 

Date(s): 
30 November 2022 
 

Subject: 
Annual Review of the Committee’s Terms of Reference 

 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Town Clerk & Chief Executive 

For Decision 

Report author: 
Ben Dunleavy 

Governance Officer 

 
 

Summary 
 
This report provides a revised version of the Committee’s Terms of Reference, 
following amendments suggested by Members at the meeting in September 2022. 
The amendment is to add specific reference to the Local Authority (Public Health, 
Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013. 
 
Members are asked to further review the Terms of Reference as amended. This will 
enable any proposed changes to be considered at the Policy and Resources 
Committee in good time ahead of the annual appointment of Committees by the 
Court of Common Council in April. 
 

 
Recommendation(s) 

 
Members are asked to: 
 

• review the revised terms of reference as outlined in Appendix 1 and consider 
any further changes; 

 
Appendices 
 

• Appendix 1 – Terms of Reference of the Health and Social Care Scrutiny 
Committee (revised version) 

 
Ben Dunleavy 
Governance Officer 
 
E: ben.dunleavy@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5

mailto:ben.dunleavy@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



Terms of Reference 

 To be responsible for:- 
 

(a)      fulfilling the City’s health and social care scrutiny role in keeping with the aims expounded in the Health and Social 
Care Act 2001,Part 14 of the Local Government and Public Health Act 2007 (Patient and Public Involvement in Care 
and Social Care) and the the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013; 
 

(b)      agreeing and implementing an annual work programme; and 
 

(c) receiving and taking account of the views of relevant stakeholders and service providers by inviting representations to 
be made at appropriate meetings. 
 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



 

 

 
 
 
 

Committees: Dated: 

Health and Wellbeing Board – For Information 16/09/2022 

Community and Children’s Services Committee – For 
22/09/2022 
30/11/2022 

Information  

Safer City Partnership – For Information  

City of London Members Safeguarding Sub-Committee –  

For Information 
Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee – For 
Information   

  

Subject: City and Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Public 

Annual Report 2021/22  

  

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate None 

Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or No 

capital spending?  

If so, how much? £ 

What is the source of Funding? Partner Contributions 

  

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the N/A 

Chamberlain’s Department?  

Report of: For Information 

Dr Adi Cooper, Independent Chair, City and Hackney  

Safeguarding Adults Board  

Report author:  

Raynor Griffiths, City and Hackney Safeguarding Adults  

Board Manager  

  
 

 

Summary 

 

The City and Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board (the Board) is a statutory board 

required under s43 of the Care Act 2014. The Board has three statutory functions: 

 

a) Develop and publish a strategic plan outlining how the Board will meet its 
objectives.  

b) Publish an annual report detailing the safeguarding achievements for that 
financial year.  

c) Commission Safeguarding Adults Reviews for any cases which meet the 
criteria. 

 

This report outlines the Board’s annual report for 2021/22. It focuses on the key 
achievements, data for 2020/21 and future priorities for the Board. 
 

 

Recommendation 

 

Members are asked to note the report. 
 
 Page 21

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 

Main Report 

 

Background 

 

1. The City and Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board is a multi-agency partnership 

represented by statutory and non-statutory stakeholders. The role of the Board is 

to assure itself that robust safeguarding procedures are in place across the City 

and Hackney to protect adults with care and support needs who are at risk of 

abuse and neglect. Where abuse and neglect does occur, the Board and its 

partners are committed to tackling this and promoting person-centred care for all 

adults experiencing abuse or neglect. The annual report sets out a summary of 

safeguarding adults’ activity across the City of London and Hackney in 2021/22. 
 

 

Current Position 

 

Key achievements 

 

2. In line with its strategy, some of the key achievements for the Board 

in 2021/22 include: 

 

a) The Board assessed how well learning from Safeguarding Adults Review 

has been embedded into practice, and put in place measures to ensure 

that agencies are disseminating learning to staff. One reflection event 

was held to review how well learning from the MS Safeguarding Adults 

Review. The Independent Reviewer provided positive feedback on the 

actions Board partners had taken to address the recommendations from 

the review.  
b) The Board continued to commission multi-agency training across the 

partnership, this includes trauma-informed training and the delivery of a 

Safeguarding Adults Week which was attended by over 200 professionals.  
c) The Board undertook one multi-agency case file audit, which assessed 

safeguarding practice in relation to self-neglect. In total, 10 cases were 

reviewed, and the learning from the audit is included in the Board’s 

annual strategic plan for 2022/23.  
d) The Board contributed to King’s College London’s Communities of  

Practice for research on homelessness and self-neglect.  
e) The Board continued to deliver workstreams regarding Transitional  

Safeguarding (jointly for the Children’s Safeguarding Partnership and 

Community Safety Partnership) and digital safety, as well as contributed 

to a number of wider joint partnership projects such as the development 

of the Intergenerational Domestic Abuse Protocol. 
 
 
 

 

Page 22



 

 

 

f) City of London Corporation have permanently recruited a social worker 

based in the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Service. This has led 

to an increase in Care Act assessments and preventative interventions 

for rough sleepers.  
g) North East London (NEL) Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

complied with delivering NHS Improvement’s Safe and Wellbeing 

Reviews, which assess the wellbeing of individuals living in long-stay 

hospital settings. In total there were 20 reviews across NEL CCG and 20 

across the provider collaborative. The key findings for City and Hackney 

related to action to support people’s physical health. Some individuals 

experienced delayed discharges due to challenges locating an 

appropriate community placement. Also, in some cases, remote or virtual 

care plan reviews had impacted quality and oversight.  
h) City of London Police secured a mental health triage nurse for 2021/22. 

The nurse has facilitated a decrease in the need to invoke Section 136 

of the Mental Health Act, which gives police emergency powers to take 

someone from a public place to a place of safety.  
i) Age UK supported clients to join video meetings which enabled the 

organisation to get better insight into their unspoken circumstances 

and make appropriate safeguarding referrals where relevant. 
 

 

Areas for further development 

 

3. The Board was unable to meet its goals in relation to the following, and 

will continue to work on these areas in 2022/23: 

 

a) Engagement with residents. While the Board has undertaken outreach 

work to improve its engagement with residents, it has not been possible to 

re-establish the service user network it had prior to the Covid-19 

lockdowns. The Board will continue to identify ways it can improve 

engagement with service users and residents in the City and Hackney.  
b) In preparation for inspection by the Care Quality Commission (CQC), the 

Board intended to review audits of safeguarding activity within the City and  
Hackney’s Adult Social Care teams. This did not go forward on the basis 

that the Board was awaiting the publication of a template for this from the 

CQC. This action has been rolled forward into the Board’s annual 

strategic plan for 2022/23.  
c) At the start of the financial year, the Board put on a number of learning 

sessions for voluntary sector agencies. Unfortunately, these were not well 

attended, and the Board had to cancel further sessions. To address this, 

the Board is working with its voluntary sector members to help engage 

with wider voluntary and community sector organisations. 
 
 

 

Page 23



 

 

Priorities for 2022/23 

 

4. The Board has set itself the following strategic priorities for 2022/23:  
a) Publish three Safeguarding Adults Reviews: one mandatory 

Safeguarding Adults Review under Section 44 of the Care Act; and two 

discretionary reviews.  
b) Oversee the Advocacy Project in their delivery of a feedback service 

for people with lived experience of adult safeguarding.  
c) Identify and respond to people who are ‘on the edge of care’ and may not 

meet the criteria for statutory safeguarding intervention, (Section 42 

enquiries) and still have safeguarding needs. This includes supporting the 

London Borough of Hackney to consider safeguarding issues that arise in 

the context of Poverty Reduction work.  
d) Work with the City and Hackney Children’s Safeguarding Partnership 

and the Domestic Abuse Intervention Service to create the Think Family 

Protocol for the City of London and Hackney. 

 

Key Data 

 

5. The key information was identified from the City of London data set: 

 

● There were 60 safeguarding concerns raised, of which 33 led to a Section 
42 enquiry. While there was an increase in concerns from 2020/21, there 
was a decrease in Section 42 enquiries.  

● The most common forms of abuse were: self-neglect; neglect and acts of 
omission; and domestic abuse.  

● In line with national trends, abuse was most likely to happen in the 
person’s own home by someone known to them.  

● Of the 35 concluded cases, 18 people expressed their desired 
outcome. There were 17 people who had their desired outcomes fully 
achieved or partially achieved. 

 

6. Corporate & Strategic Implications 
 

 

● Strategic implications – None  
● Financial implications – None  
● Resource implications – None  
● Legal implications – None  
● Risk implications – None  
● Equalities implications – None  
● Climate implications – None  
● Security implications – None 

 

Conclusion 
 
 
 

 

Page 24



 

 

 
Adult Safeguarding is a critical area of work and should remain a priority for all 
organisations. For the Safeguarding Adults Board, it will continue to look into 
key areas of safeguarding concern and ensure that the safeguarding needs of 
all residents in the City of London and Hackney are met. 
 

 

Appendices 

 

● Appendix 1 – City and Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board (CHSAB) 
Annual Report 2021/22 

 

 

Raynor Griffiths  
City and Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Manager 

 

T: 020 8356 1751 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

CHSAB Annual Report 

 

2021–22  

 
 
 

People should be able to live a life free from harm
 in communities that are intolerant of abuse, work  

together to prevent abuse and know what to do 

when it happens  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 27



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 28



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Contents 

 

Message from the Independent Chair 2 

What is the Safeguarding Adults Board? 3 

Role of the Safeguarding Adults Board 3 

Board Governance 6 

CHSAB Achievements for 2021/22 11 

Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) 11 

Training and engagement with professionals 11 

Safeguarding Adults Week 11 

Quality Assurance 12 

Multi-agency working 12 

Financial Scams and Digital Safety Task and Finish Group 12 

Anti-Social Behaviour and Safeguarding Task and Finish Group 15 

Transitional Safeguarding Task and Finish Group 15 

Resident engagement 15 

Neighbourhoods Team 16 

Engagement and partnership work 16 

National work 16 

What did the Board not achieve? 18 

Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) 18 

CHSAB Strategy 2020-25 18 

CHSAB Board Partners Safeguarding Achievements 23 

Safeguarding data for 2021/22 31 

CHSAB Annual Strategic Plan 2022 – 2023 48 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 1 Page 29



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Message from 
 

the Independent Chair 

 

I am very pleased to introduce the Annual Report 

of the City and Hackney Safeguarding Adults  
Board 2021/22. As the Independent Chair of the Board. I am extremely grateful 

to all partners for their ongoing support and contributions to safeguarding people 

living in the City and Hackney, through the tremendous challenges from the 

Covid-19 pandemic. Partners have continued to deliver safe services and 

respond to changing safeguarding needs and risks, as the report describes. I 

take this opportunity to thank all staff, volunteers and residents for supporting 

people at risk of abuse or neglect in the City and Hackney during this time. 
 

This annual report shows what the Board aimed to achieve during 2021/22 and 

what we have been able to achieve, as partners and as a partnership. It 

provides a picture of who is safeguarding, in what circumstances and why. 

This informs the priorities in the Delivery Plan for 2022/23, which states what 

we intend to do during this year despite the considerable pressures on 

partners in terms of resources and capacity. There are significant challenges, 

including: the ongoing impact of Covid-19 and safeguarding issues arising 

from the lockdowns; the impacts of the cyberattack on Hackney Council and 

greater levels of need in the local population. 
 

The Board and its members continue to address the challenges in respect of 

safeguarding adults in the City and Hackney, find innovative ways to support 

residents and staff, and make improvements in the ways in which people are 

safeguarded. I hope to continue to chair the partnership and support 

colleagues to achieve the aims and ambitions of the Board. 

 

Dr Adi Cooper OBE, 
Independent Chair City and Hackney Safeguarding Adults 

Board June 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2  Page 30



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

What is the Safeguarding Adults Board? 

 
 

Role 

The City and Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board (CHSAB) is a partnership 

made up of both statutory and non-statutory organisations. A range of 

organisations attend the Board including health, social care, housing, criminal 

justice and fire services, voluntary sector and residents who use services in the 

City of London and Hackney. The role of the CHSAB is to assure itself that 

organisations based in the City and Hackney have effective safeguarding 

arrangements. This is to ensure that adults with care and support are protected 

and prevented from experiencing abuse and neglect. 
 

The CHSAB has three core legal duties under the Care Act 2014: 
 

1) Develop and publish a Strategic Plan outlining how the Board will 

meet its objectives and how partners will contribute to this 
 

2) Publish an Annual Report detailing actions that the Board has taken 

to safeguard the community and how successful it has been in 

achieving this 
 

3) Commission Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) for any cases that 

meet the criteria. 
 

In addition to this, the CHSAB is able to lead or undertake work in respect of 

any other adult safeguarding issue it feels appropriate to meet the objectives 

described in the statutory guidance accompanying the Care Act 2014. 

 

Membership 
 

The CHSAB has three statutory partners: the Local Authority, Clinical 

Commissioning Group and Police service and a wide range of non-statutory 

partners. 
 

Below is a full list of our partners and their attendance at our quarterly Board 

meetings during 2021/22: 
 
 

2021-22 
 

 Independent Chair 100%  

 London Borough of Hackney ASC 100%  

 City of London Corporation 100%  

 City & Hackney CCG 100%  

 Homerton University Hospital 100%  

 Barts Health NHS Trust 0%  

 East London NHS Foundation Trust 100%  

 London Fire Brigade 50%  
 
 
 

 3 Page 31



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 
 

 

2021-22 
 

 Metropolitan Police 100%  
 

 City of London Police 50%  
 

 National Probation Service 25%  
 

 Healthwatch Hackney 50%  
 

 HCVS 25%  
 

 Age UK East London 50%  
 

 The Advocacy Project 0%  
 

 London Borough of Hackney Benefits and 

75% 

 
 

 Housing Needs  
 

 Turning Point 25%  
 

 Department of Work and Pensions 100%  
 

 Public Health 75%  
 

 Care Quality Commission 25%  
 

 
 

Principles 
 

The Board’s strategy and annual strategic plan is underpinned by the six 

safeguarding principles: 

● Prevention – It is better to take action before harm occurs. 

“I receive clear and simple information about what abuse is, how to 

recognise the signs and what I can do to seek help.” 

● Empowerment – People are supported and encouraged to make 
their own decisions and informed consent.  
“I am asked what I want as the outcomes from the safeguarding 

process and this directly informs what happens.” 

● Proportionality – The least intrusive response appropriate to the risk 
presented.  
“I am sure that the professionals will work in my interest, as I see them 

and they will only get involved as much as needed.” 

● Protection – Support and representation for those in greatest need. 
“I get help and support to report abuse and neglect. I get help so that I 

am able to take part in the safeguarding process to the extent to which 

I want.” 
 

● Accountability – Accountability and transparency in delivering 
safeguarding.  
“I understand the role of everyone involved in my life and so do they.” 

 
 
 

 

4  

Page 32



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 
 

 

• Partnership – Local solutions through services working together and 
with their communities. Services share information safely and each service 
has a workforce well trained in safeguarding. Communities have a part to 
play in preventing, detecting and reporting neglect and abuse.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

“I know that staff treat any personal and sensitive information in 
confidence, only sharing what is helpful and necessary. I am 

confident that professionals will work together and with me to get the 

best result for me.” 

 

 
 5 

Page 33



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Board Governance 
 

Subgroups 
 

The Board has a number of subgroups in place to ensure the delivery of 

its annual priorities: 
 
 

Quality Assurance: 
This group examines quantitative and 
qualitative information about 
safeguarding across the City and 
Hackney. This information is provided 
to the Executive group and helps 
inform the work and priorities of  
the Board. 

 
 
 

Workforce Development: This 

group meets periodically to review 
and identify training and 
development opportunities in 
respect of adult safeguarding. It is 
also responsible for quality 
assuring the safeguarding training 
delivered by partners. 

 

 

SAR action plan task 
and finish group:  
This group was designed to 
ensure that the actions from 
our most recent SARs are 
completed in a timely manner. 
The group also identified how 
to ensure that learning from 
SARs has a long-term impact 
on improving practice. 

 
 
 

Safeguarding Adults and 

Case Review: 
The group fulfils the Board’s s44 
Care Act duty by considering 
requests for a Safeguarding 
Adults Review (SAR). The 
group reviews referrals and 
makes recommendations to the 
Chair when it considers if a SAR 
is required. It will also monitor 
the embedding of action plans 
from reviews that have an adult 
safeguarding theme to them. 
 
 

 

Transitional safeguarding: The 

task and finish group is responsible 
for identifying how to better support 
young people aged 16 - 25 years 
old with their safeguarding needs 
around exploitation and abuse. This 
is a joint task and finish group on 
behalf of the City and Hackney 
Safeguarding Children’s Partnership 
and Hackney Community Safety 
Partnership as well as the CHSAB. 

 

 

Digital safety and  
financial scams group: 
The group identifies core 
risks associated with being 
online and using digital 
platforms. Furthermore, the 
group identifies how to 
keep residents safe online, 
particularly with respect to 
financial scams. 

  
Anti-social behaviour and 
safeguarding:  
This group was set up by the Safeguarding 

Adults Board and Community Safety 

Partnership in Hackney to improve the 

multi-agency response to people both 

perpetrating or experiencing anti-social 

behaviour. The role of the group was to 

ensure that a proportionate response is 

provided to residents as well as support 

frontline professionals in responding to anti-

social behaviour 
 

 

 
6  Page 34



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

The work of the sub and task and finish groups is overseen by the Executive 

Group, whose role it is to monitor the progress of work undertaken by the groups 

and identify any other work the Board needs to undertake. The Executive group 

is attended by statutory partners, the Independent Chair and the Board Manager. 

 

There are also quarterly CHSAB meetings attended by the whole partnership. 

This allows for discussions on key safeguarding issues, networking and 

identifying further opportunities for partnership working. 

 

City of London Adult Safeguarding Committee 

The City of London has a Safeguarding Adult Committee, which focuses on 

safeguarding issues affecting residents living in the City of London. The 

Committee meets quarterly, where it allows partners to share their responses 

and responsibilities in relation to different safeguarding issues and provides 

updates in respect of their progress against the Board’s strategic priorities. 
 

CHSAB strategic links 

The CHSAB has links with partnerships and boards working with residents in 

the City of London and Hackney, including: the City and Hackney Safeguarding 

Children’s Partnership, Community Safety Partnerships and Health and 

Wellbeing Boards. The Board also engages with other partnerships where 

there may be opportunities to work collaboratively or provide an adult 

safeguarding expertise. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 7 

Page 35



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Budget  

In 2021/22 the budget was £216,991 from the partners listed below: 
 

Partners Income Received (£) 

City of London Corporation (28,875) 

East London NHS Foundation Trust (27,500) 

Homerton University Hospital (12,000) 

NHS City and Hackney CCG (20,000) 

Metropolitan Police Authority (5,000) 

Bart’s and London NHS Trust (5,000) 

City of London Police (4,400) 

London Fire Brigade (500) 

LB Hackney (104,809) 

Total income (208,084)  
 

The expenditure for the Board in 2021/22 was £182,104. This covered costs 

including staff, the Independent Chair, training and design costs. 
 

The Board have made the decision to keep the partner contributions the same 

on the basis that there is a current reserve of £199,396, to meet any unplanned 

expenditure that may be incurred in this financial year. 
 

Supporting the CHSAB 
 

The CHSAB has a full-time Board Manager and Business Support Officer to 

manage the work of the Board. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
8  Page 36



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Case Study 1:  

North East London Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

Sophie* is a young woman who resides at a local nursing home. She is largely bed 

bound, and lacks capacity to consent to care and treatment. However, she is not 

resistant to care being provided. There has been a positive relationship between 

the care home and family, and all report that the GP is very engaged with managing 

her care plan. 
 

When residents at her nursing home were routinely being offered the Covid-19 vaccine  
– Sophie’s family stated that they did not wish for her to receive the vaccine. As  
Sophie lacks the capacity to consent to treatment, the responsibility for a ‘best interest 

decision’ under the Mental Capacity Act lies with the CCG and the GP who manage her 

care arrangements. The CCG were anxious to reach a safe decision that engaged with 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

her families’ concerns and worked collaboratively, taking into account the 

significantly higher levels of Covid-19 deaths of care home residents. 
 

The care home had done a lot of work with families to ensure that they have the 

information to assist in being involved in decision making where residents could not make 

their own decisions. This involved providing information leaflets, discussions, etc and 

centred upon consent to "testing" and vaccinations. The family had previously advocated 

for their daughter to have the flu vaccine. It was agreed that the first step should be to 

engage further with the family and understand the basis of their concerns. The CCG 

sought Adult Safeguarding advice from the Adult Safeguarding Lead at the London 

Borough of Hackney. Following discussions between the case manager and the family it 

became apparent that their objections were specific to the Astra-Zeneca vaccine, rather 

than the overall principle of vaccination. This was in part due to their understanding that 

this vaccine contained animal products that are prohibited in their faith. This understanding 

allowed the case manager to engage in a more personalised way with the family accepting 

their concerns and working in partnership. A best interest decision was taken to administer 

the vaccine and the family agreed with this plan. 
 

 
 9 Page 37



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Case Study 2:  

Metropolitan Police Service 
 

The police responded to a call from neighbours of a Kate*, concerned that they had 

not seen her at the address for some time. They also noted that there were multiple 

males coming and going to the property at different times of the day. Police attended 

and managed to confirm that Kate was safe and well but established that she was 

extremely fearful of the males who had attended the address. The officers were able 

to establish that Kate was a Class A drug user whose address had been ‘cuckooed’ 

by males who she had previously bought drugs from. These men, up to five in total, 

took over her flat and used it to deal and store drugs from. They threatened violence 

should she ever inform the police. Neighbourhood officers were already working in 

partnership with Peabody Housing to obtain a closure order for the address. Kate 

was safely removed from the premises, with her consent, and put up in a hotel by 

police. This was so that she could be away from the immediate area whilst work with 

the Housing association was completed to urgently re-house her elsewhere. A search 

of the premises located a large amount of class A drugs, cash, and a suspected 

firearm. Kate was safely placed away from harm and is receiving ongoing support 

from social services, and a criminal investigation remains ongoing into the items 

found and identifying suspects for prosecution.  

 

“I've got my life back.” 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
10  Page 38



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

CHSAB Achievements for 2021/22 

 

Safeguarding Adults Review (SARs) 
 

● The Board commissioned one Safeguarding Adults Review and one 

discretionary Safeguarding Adults Review. Both are due to be published 

in 2022 and will be included in the annual report for 2022/23. 
 

● The Board held one reflection event identifying how well learning from 

the MS SAR was embedded into practice. The Independent Reviewer 

provided positive feedback on the actions Board partners had taken to 

address the recommendations from the review. 
 

● The SAR action plan group measured how well learning had been 

embedded into practice. This undertaking feedback exercises with 

frontline staff and partners allows us to understand how well SARs were 

known and perceived across the City and Hackney. 
 

● The SAR Protocol was updated in response to the National Analysis 

from SARs. 
 

● The SAR action plan group reviewed learning from SARs across London to 

identify themes and how the Board can pre-emptively address these. 

 

Training and engagement with professionals 
 

● The Board commissions a package of training for frontline line staff 

working across the City and Hackney on a yearly basis. This year the 

Board commissioned 11 different safeguarding courses, including a new 

course on trauma informed approaches to safeguarding. In total, 413 

people attended training in 2021/22. 
 

● The Board published monthly bulletins for frontline staff providing them 

with update on adult safeguarding issues. 
 

● The Board delivered a series of bitesize training including learning from 

SARs and best practice working with rough sleepers. 
 

● The Board has commissioned a new training system so that all training will 

be contained in one centralised location. 

 

Safeguarding Adults Week 
 

● The Board held a number of bite-sized learning sessions on different areas 

of safeguarding for professionals. In total, over 200 professionals attended 

these session; an increase upon the previous year. 
 

● The Board created a series of seven-minute briefings and learning 

resources to support frontline staff. 
 

● A number of posters and promotional resources were circulated across all 

staff at the London Borough of Hackney. 

 

 
 11 Page 39



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Quality Assurance 
 

● The Board undertook one multi-agency case file audit which assessed 

safeguarding practice in respect of self-neglect. In total 10 cases were 

reviewed at a multi-agency event attended by Board partners and the 

neighbourhood team.  
● Board partners audited their safeguarding training, with specific scrutiny 

into mental capacity training offered to staff. 
 

● There was a review of how well the Board was meeting its statutory 

obligations under the Care Act 2014 and Care Act statutory guidance. 

● There was one challenge event, which assessed the Board partners in 

relation to safeguarding priorities set out in the Safeguarding Adults 

Partnership Audit Tool; which is a Londonwide audit tool. 
 

● The Independent Chair of the Board has initiated yearly check-ins for all 

Board partners. The purpose of these check-ins is to ensure that all 

safeguarding issues affecting residents are identified and addressed and 

to continue to improve engagement with partner agencies. 
 

Multi-agency working 
 

● King’s College London have undertaken a Communities of Practice around 

homelessness and self-neglect, which the Board has participated in. 

● The Board supported the Domestic Abuse Intervention Service to create 
and promote the Intergenerational Domestic Abuse Protocol in the London  
Borough of Hackney. 

 
● The financial scams and digital safety group worked to help ensure people 

stay safe online. The group reviewed core safety risks and will continue to 

raise awareness of how professionals and residents can avoid 

safeguarding risks.  
● There was Board attendance at a number of partnership groups including 

the Carers Partnership Board, Death in Treatment Panel, no recourse to 

public funds meetings and domestic abuse work streams. 
 

Financial Scams and Digital Safety Task and Finish Group 
 

● A small group of partners formed the financial scams and digital safety 

task and finish group to look at the risks for residents using digital 

platforms.  
● The group has raised awareness of digital safety and online scams in the 

Board’s newsletters. 

● The group has directed that all future safeguarding projects review any 

online or digital risks that may be relevant. 

● The group will continue to develop resources to assist frontline 

professionals and residents over the forthcoming year. 

 
 

12  Page 40



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

“I'm thankful for the 

help and support.” 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Case Study 3:  

City of London Police 
 

Leila* experienced domestic abuse over the years however she had never reported it to the 

police. Leila has three children, all known to Children’s Social Care at different stages of their 

lives. At a strategy meeting for the youngest, Leila disclosed information about domestic 

abuse she was experiencing. Staff in the Public Protection Unit attempted to engage with 

Leila and she was allocated a specialist domestic abuse detective. 
 

There was a violent incident at the home address, leading to Leila calling 999 and 

reporting the perpetrator. The VVA and officer on duty collected Leila from the address 

along with her youngest child and took her to a place of safety. This was the first time 

Leila had the courage to report the abuse she was suffering. The Police Public 

Protection Unit arranged emergency accommodation, with the support of social 

services, to ensure that Leila and her child did not have to return to the family home. 
 

Leila’s case was referred to the MARAC, which ensures that there is a multi-agency 

response to domestic abuse. The MARAC ensured that Leila was housed in an 

appropriate location. The case was referred to the Crown Prosecution Service to 

ensure that there was a criminal prosecution for the perpetrator. 

 

 
 13 Page 41



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Case Study 4:  

Hackney CVS 
 

Gio had engaged with the service for a number of years, volunteering for one of the 

programmes run by the service. Gio identifies as non-binary and bisexual, which has 

caused them to become estranged from their family due to their sexuality. They do not 

have settled immigration status in the UK. Furthermore, Gio has been diagnosed with 

high performing autism, depression and also struggles with anxiety. This has led to them 

have periods of suicidal ideation and they have attempted to take their own life. 

Gio was receiving support from East London Foundation Trust mental health teams, 

their GP and a housing provider. Gio found that support from Hackney CVS (HCVS) 

to get them into work has been really valuable and they are now on a salaried wage. 

HCVS supported Gio to obtain accommodation and furniture for this. 
 

Gio still experiences panic attacks which were exacerbated by being stopped and 

searched as a young black person and fears that they may be supported. However, 

HCVS has put in support for them, so they are able to manage these. Gio reports to 

feeling generally much happier in their life. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

“Due to the support 

I received, I was  

able to obtain  

accommodation, a 

place to call home.” 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
14  Page 42



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Anti-Social Behaviour and Safeguarding Task and 

Finish Group (on behalf of the Safeguarding Adults Board 

and Community Safety Partnership in Hackney) 
 

● A group of officers within the London Borough of Hackney formed the 

group to look at strengthening the safeguarding response to anti-social 

behaviour. 
 

● The group have explored the key concerns for professionals working with 

people feeling and perpetrating anti-social behaviour. 
 

● The pathways for anti-social behaviour cases have been reviewed and 

revised to ensure that these are accessible. 
 

● The group explored the issue of cuckooing, where people take over the 

home of another person and use it for their own means, often for criminal 

activity. The group explored how to respond to and raise awareness of this 

issue. 

 

Transitional Safeguarding Task and Finish Group (on behalf 

of the Safeguarding Adults Board and Children’s Safeguarding 

Partnership and Hackney Community Safety Partnership) 
 

● The Group has worked with the University of Sussex Innovate Project 

to continue to drive learning and understanding around the 

safeguarding risks affecting young people aged 16 - 25 years old. 
 

● The group undertook a number of learning sessions with staff to raise 

awareness of what is available to support young people. 
 

● The group developed a briefing for staff outlining how they could apply the 

law when supporting young people being exploited or abused. 

 

Resident engagement 
 

● The Board has commissioned a voluntary sector agency, The Advocacy 

Project, to obtain feedback from residents who have lived experience of 

safeguarding. 
 

● The Board advertised for the role of Safeguarding Champion and also for 

volunteers to join the London Safeguarding Voices Group. 
 

● Age UK undertook a feedback session with residents to hear their views on 

digital safety. 
 

● The Board continues to publish quarterly newsletters to residents and also 

provided an article to the Older People’s Reference Group on keeping safe 

over the Christmas period. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 15 Page 43



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Neighbourhoods Team 
 

● The Board has continued to work collaboratively with the Neighbourhoods  
Team, through regular meetings and reporting back to the Board. 

 
● The Neighbourhoods Team were involved in the Board’s multi-agency 

case file audit. 

 

Engagement and partnership work 
 

● The Board provided a response to the consultation undertaken by North  
East London Clinical Commissioning Group in relation to changes to the 

structure of their safeguarding teams. 
 

● The Board expanded its professionals mailing list and networks to 

ensure that all professionals in the City and Hackney are up to date with 

safeguarding news. If you would like to join this network please contact: 

chsab@hackney.gov.uk. 

● The Board delivered a number of bite-sized training sessions on different 

areas of safeguarding to different teams across the City and Hackney. This 

includes presentations to the public health teams,The Advocacy Project 

and the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
 

National work 
 

● The Board contributed to the National Safeguarding Adults Board Chairs 

survey, which looks at the effectiveness and priorities of Safeguarding  
Adults Boards across England. 

 
● Members of the Board attend a number of regional and national groups 

including, the London Safeguarding Adults Board, London and national  
SAB Chairs, London and regional SAB Manager Networks and Care and 

Health Improvement Partnership (Local Government Association and the 

Association of Directors of Adult Social Services) Safeguarding adults 

workstream.  
● Members of the Board have presented at national safeguarding events 

that have occurred across England. 

 

Case Study 5:  

Homerton University Hospital Foundation Trust 
 

Loretta was a 90-year-old widow with vascular dementia and a number of other health 

issues. Loretta was normally resident in Nottingham, and she was an active member 

of her local church. She had a large family, with five children and an extended social 

network. Her daughter supported her with some tasks at home. Loretta had discussed 

Lasting Power of Attorney (LPA) with her daughters before she lost capacity and had 

given three of her daughter’s this authorisation for her financial and health affairs. 
 

Loretta suffered a severe stroke which resulted in her requiring support with all activities 

of daily living. It also impacted her ability to make decisions around her care. 

 
16  Page 44

mailto:chsab@hackney.gov.uk


 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Loretta receives home care from her daughters and carers 

 

 

This occurred during the Covid-19 pandemic and it unfortunately meant that 

visitations were restricted. 
 

Staff determined that Loretta lacked capacity to make decisions about her discharge 

from hospital, specifically where she would be discharged to. In line with the Mental 

Capacity Act, a best interests assessment was arranged to discuss her LPA with her 

family. A number of discharge options were discussed for Loretta, including factors to 

consider with each option. Loretta’s daughters had different views on where she 

would be discharged to. 
 

An Independent Mental Capacity Advocate was appointed to support and establish 

the past and present wishes of Loretta. A social worker and discharge team, provided 

the daughters with care home options as well as dates for discharge. Unfortunately, it 

was not possible to reach a unanimous decision on Loretta’s care. It was determined 

that it was in Loretta’s best interest to be discharged to the care home with nursing 

attached to the Hospital. In conjunction with this, a social worker liaised with the Office 

of Public Guardianship and the Court of Protection.  
The Court of Protection agreed that Loretta lacked capacity to make decisions about 

her life. She remained in the care home during the pandemic, although efforts were 

made to ensure her family could visit once restrictions were lifted and to ensure she 

had access to Christian shows and music, which she enjoyed. Staff also worked to 

ensure that Loretta could have a 90th birthday celebration that her family could all 

attend safely. 
 

The Court of Protection eventually ruled that Loretta could return to Nottingham to 

be cared for in her home by her daughter and carers. The rest of the family were 

supportive of this decision. The manager of the care home arranged transport and a 

handover to staff and her daughter, so her needs were met. 

 

 
 17 Page 45



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

What did the Board not achieve? 

 

The Board always sets itself an ambitious set of goals to achieve in its annual 

strategic plan. This is to ensure that the safeguarding adults’ agenda is driven 

forward across the City and Hackney. Unfortunately, it is not always possible 

to achieve all goals. The Board was unable to meet the following objectives 

during 2021/22: 
 

1. Whilst the Board has undertaken outreach work to improve its engagement with 

residents, it has not been possible to re-establish the service user network it had with 

residents prior to the Covid-19 lockdowns. The Board will continue to identify ways it 

can improve engagement with service users and residents in the City and Hackney. 
 

2. In preparation for inspection by the Care Quality Commission (CQC), the Board 

intended to audit safeguarding within the City and Hackney’s Adult Social Care 

teams. This did not go forward on the basis that the Board were awaiting the 

publication of a template for this from the CQC. This action has been rolled forward 

into the Board’s annual strategic plan for 2022/23. 
 

3. At the start of the financial year the Board put on a number of learning sessions for 
voluntary sector agencies. Unfortunately, these were not well attended, and the Board 
had to cancel further sessions. To address this the Board is working with its voluntary 
sector members to help engage with wider voluntary and community  
sector organisations. 

 

Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) 

 

The Board has a statutory duty to undertake Safeguarding Adults Reviews 

(SAR) under section 44 of the Care Act 2014. The following criteria must be 

met for a SAR: 
 

1. An adult has died or suffered serious harm. 
 

2. It is suspected or know that this was due to abuse or neglect. 
 

3. There is concern that agencies could have worked better to protect 

the adult from harm. 
 

The Board is also able to undertake a discretionary SAR under the Care Act 

2014, where a case does not meet the threshold for a review but it is 

considered that there is valuable learning to be gained in terms of addressing 

abuse and neglect. 
 

In 2021/22, the Board did not publish any Safeguarding Adults Reviews. The 

Board initiated two reviews in 2021/22, one was a SAR as defined under 

section 44 of the Care Act and the other a discretionary review. It is anticipated 

that the Board will publish these two reviews and an outstanding discretionary 

review in 2022/23. 
 

CHSAB Strategy 2020-25 

 

Under the Care Act 2014, Safeguarding Adults Boards are required to 

publish a strategy outlining how it will meet its obligations in respect of adult 

 

 
18 Page 46



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

safeguarding. The Board renewed its Strategy in 2020 and published a five-

year plan on how it will deliver its goals. The following objectives have been 

met in respect of the Board’s 2020-25 strategy: 
 

● We will find innovative ways to communicate key learning from the CHSAB 

to frontline staff across the partnership, this will include written, online and 

face-to-face formats. 
 

● We will continue to run an annual Safeguarding Adults Week to help raise 

awareness of emerging issues with the public and frontline staff. 
 

● We will undertake horizon scans of local, London and national 

safeguarding trends to help us identify thematic priorities for the Board. 
 

● We will continue to engage with the Integration Model and Neighbourhood 

teams to support them in ensuring that safeguarding is embedded through 

all aspects of their work. 
 

● We will continue to identify how we can work with different organisations 

and partnerships across City and Hackney where we have overlapping 

interests. This includes supporting teams to consider safeguarding in their 

own projects and work streams. 
 

● We will continue to work collaboratively with the Safeguarding Children’s 

Partnerships, Community Safety Partnerships and Health and Wellbeing  
Boards on mutual areas of interest. 

 
● We will quality assure the safeguarding work of the Board’s partners 

through our Quality Assurance Framework, undertaking the SAPAT and 

yearly multi-agency case file audits. 
 

● We will identify how much impact the Board and SARs are having in 

improving safeguarding practice across City and Hackney. 
 

● We will undertake periodic reviews of the Board and its Chair to ensure 

that it is meeting its obligations in respect of the Care Act 2014. 
 

In the forthcoming year the Board will focus on the following priorities: 
 

1. Engaging with voluntary and community sector organisations in a 

meaningful way to ensure that adult safeguarding messages are 

incorporated into practice. 
 

2. Oversee The Advocacy Project in their delivery of an adult safeguarding 

feedback service for people with lived experience of adult safeguarding. 

If you have received adult safeguarding support in the City or Hackney 

and would like to provide feedback to this service, please contact: 

chsab@hackney.gov.uk.  
3. Identifying and responding to people who are ‘on the edge of care’ and 

may not meet the criteria for statutory safeguarding intervention, but still 

have safeguarding needs. 
 
 
 

 19 Page 47

mailto:chsab@hackney.gov.uk


 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

4. Continuing to raise awareness of self-neglect and how to work effectively 

with adults who may be neglecting themselves. 
 

5. Engaging with services across the City and Hackney to ensure that they 

have embedded core duties in relation to adult safeguarding. 
 
 
 
 

 

“My daughter is able to help me with the support she receives.” 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Case Study 6:  

East London Foundation Trust 
 

Anita was a 51 year old woman from the Irish Traveller community, who was diagnosed 

with psychosis, depression and anxiety. There were suspicions that she may have a mild 

learning disability and some memory loss due to heavy drinking. Anita had been known to 

the EQUIP team, who work with people experiencing or at risk of 

 

 
20  Page 48



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

experiencing their first episode psychosis, for a year. She lived with her ex-partner and 

daughter and had a joint tenancy with him. Her ex-partner had care and support needs 

of his own and was using illicit substances and drinking heavily. Anita’s ex-partner had 

been abusive towards her. She also had a current boyfriend whom she described as 

being “on/off”, and he was also abusive towards her. Anita’s daughter helped to 

provide care to her and her ex-partner. 
 

The EQUIP social worker had worked closely with Anita to understand her needs 

and her wishes for the future. The EQUIP social worker recognised that she was an 

adult at risk of domestic abuse, but her low mood and anxiety prevented her to seek 

support. Her circumstances meant that she was restricted in moving to alternative 

accommodation, and Anita also stated that she wanted to stay close to where her 

daughters were. 
 

The EQUIP social worker held a professionals meetings to try and ascertain what 

could be done to support Anita, specifically advocating for her to move accommodation 

with the support of her housing association. The social worker worked with the Named 

Professional for Safeguarding Adults and domestic abuse team to move things forward 

by escalating concerns with the housing association. The EQUIP social worker also 

worked with the Carer’s Lead to support Anita’s daughter who was struggling with  
the demands placed on her as a carer. As a result, Anita was offered alternative 

accommodation with her daughter and her daughter was provided with support in 

her carer role. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 21 Page 49



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
22  Page 50



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

CHSAB Board Partners Safeguarding Achievements 

 

This section outlines the Board Partners main achievements in relation to adult 

safeguarding for 2021/22: 

 

London Borough of Hackney 
 

● Provided support to partners in relation to the roll out of Covid-19 testing 

and vaccination, particularly where there may be concerns in relation to 

the person’s mental capacity to consent to vaccination or testing. This 

helped to ensure more people had access to testing and the vaccine. 
 

● There have been contributions to and progress around a multi-disciplinary 
approach to working within neighbourhoods based around GP practices.  
This supports early engagement and reduces the likelihood of people 

having to re-tell their stories to several professionals. This was undertaken 

while rearranging the safeguarding team so that the response and 

outcomes when abuse is first reported is more proportionate and 

accessible for residents. 
 

● There were a number of projects where Adult Social Care collaborated to 

improve outcomes for residents. This included work with colleagues in the 

Domestic Abuse Intervention Services to devise and implement an 

intergenerational domestic abuse protocol. This will assist in promoting a 

joint approach to situations where the victim is generally an older adult with 

care and support needs. There was also social work involvement in the 

temporary accommodation team, to further embed multi-agency working 

with people who are street homeless or facing eviction. 
 

City of London Corporation 
 

● The pilot recruitment of a social worker to be based in the Homelessness 

and Rough Sleeping Service has been a success with an increase in 

related Care Act 2014 assessments, and in preventative interventions. 

The post has now been made permanent. 
 

● Systems which were put in place to facilitate and monitor hospital 

discharges have been effective in meeting the demands created by the 

pandemic in terms of response times, increases in numbers of patients 

from a higher number of hospitals, and managing increased levels of risk. 
 

● There has been improved partnership working which has contributed to 

continued improvements in multi-agency approaches to managing and 

reducing risk. Most notably the work alongside the Rough Sleeping and 

Mental Health Programme in supporting rough sleepers, and the further 

embedding of the Neighbourhood model of integration. 
 

North East London Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
 

NHS Improvement requested Safe and Wellbeing Reviews, a rapid review 

process for commissioners to urgently assess the wellbeing of individual’s 

living at long-stay hospital settings. In total there were 20 reviews across 

 

 
 23 Page 51



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

NEL CCG and 20 across the provider collaborative. This process included 

individuals with a learning disability who are in long-stay secure hospital 

placements outside of the borough. The key findings for City and Hackney 

were as follows: 
 

● Actions could be taken around physical health such as obesity 

management and ensuring primary health checks e.g. dental checks. 
 

● Some individuals experienced delayed discharge which tended to be 

related to challenges sourcing an appropriate community placement. 
 

● In some instances the practice conducting care plan reviews remotely 

or virtually (due to Covid) had impacted the quality and oversight. 
 

● The CCG undertook extensive and creative efforts to ensure that at risk 

populations including those who are housebound were offered and 

administered the Covid-19 vaccination with urgency. 
 

● Following a comprehensive review of current services in primary care; 

the CCG and Public Health agreed to combine resources to commission 

a new enhanced Early Identification Domestic Abuse Service. The early 

identification service aims to provide secondary prevention of domestic 

abuse for all residents of the City of London and Hackney. 
 

Homerton University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 
 

● The relationship between Homerton Hospital and Adult Social Care, 

in particular the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards team, Integrated 

Discharge team and the Police has improved. 
 

● There was an increase in staff training and awareness raising sessions. 

This includes the launch of a safeguarding adults level 3 as part of the 

induction process for staff. 
 

● There has been working across acute and community sites to raise 

awareness on the safeguarding agenda. This includes providing face-to-

face support to patients and service users and supporting them to make 

their own decisions. 
 

East London Foundation Trust 
 

● The Trust continued to ensure that adults were safeguarding throughout 

the pandemic despite significant pressures on mental health services 

Trust reporting systems have been developed to help capture the nature 

of abuse affecting residents with mental health needs. This has enabled 

senior staff to identify specific training that is required for practitioners, for 

example domestic or financial abuse. 
 

● The Trust has rolled out quarterly safeguarding supervision across 

services based in the City and Hackney. This is delivered by the Named 

Professional for Safeguarding Adults and allows frontline staff the 

opportunity to seek advice and guidance on safeguarding. 
 

 
24  Page 52



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Case Study 7:  

City of London Corporation 
 

There were on-going concerns regarding the self-neglect of Asif who moved across 

different local authority areas. The concerns led to a section 42 safeguarding 

enquiry being undertaken by the City of London and the case was allocated to the 

specialist rough sleeper social worker. 
 

A number of cross boundary meetings were held with other Local Authorities, including 

legal teams, to share ideas and best practice. There were regular check-ins with legal 

teams to make sure that all legal options and thresholds to meet our duties to Asif 

were considered. Throughout periods of cold weather, a temporary accommodation 

was booked for him, even if he did not indicate that he would come inside. This was so 

that there was always a self-enclosed option for them. The street cleansing team 

undertook weekly visits for a period to support Asif and minimise health risks arising 

from rotting food and vermin.  
Mental capacity assessments were completed by a lead professional in a 

collaborative way, for example, a joint assessment was undertaken around a decision 

to decline housing offers, the social worker organised meetings with Psychotherapist 

and Community Psychiatric Nurse to discuss the assessment and get his views. A 

social worker completed weekly visits with Asif to try and establish trust, 

understanding, and compassion. A number of creative options were considered for 

Asif from temporary accommodation to placement in a residential care home. All 

these options considered what his goals were and how he wanted to live their life. 
 
 

Asif case was allocated to a specialist, rough sleeper social worker 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 25 Page 53



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Metropolitan Police Service 
 

● Police in Hackney achieved the highest sanctioned detection rate for 

domestic abuse across the Metropolitan Police Service. This stood at  
16.2% for 2021/22. 

 
● The Police were able to maintain a business as usual approach during 

Covid-19. 
 

● The Police delivered and oversaw an effective Multi-Agency Risk 

Assessment Conference (MARAC) supporting those who are at highest 

risk of domestic abuse. The MARAC adopted a holistic approach to the 

safeguarding risks that arose during the MARAC. 
 

City of London Police 
 

● Funding was secured for a Mental Health Triage nurse for 2021/22 The 

nurse has facilitated a decrease in the need to invoke section 136 of the 

Mental Health Act, which gives police emergency powers to take someone 

from a public place to a place of safety. 
 

● A Vulnerable Victim Advocate has been recruited until 2023; the Advocate 

supports victims of domestic abuse, sexual violence and fraud, as well as 

undertaken engagement work with outreach services. 
 

● A Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) action plan has been 

developed which has informed and filtered across all areas of the City of 

London Police’s work. 
 

Hackney CVS 
 

● Hackney CVS continues to address the issue of race inequality through 

all its work; this includes challenging agencies and policy makers across 

Hackney to consider race equality in their work. 
 

● On-going support has been provided to the voluntary sector to help them 

improve their safeguarding practice. This includes the delivery of training 

for the workforce and the promotion of safeguarding policies and practice. 
 

● Hackney CVS has raised awareness of how sectors can improve 

engagement with young people who may be treated differently due to their 

age, race or background. In particular, the work of the Account group has 

strived to improve relations between the police and young people with 

safeguarding needs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

26  Page 54



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 

 

“My link
 

worker kept  

me updated  

and outlined  

the options  

available to 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Case Study 8:  

London Borough of Hackney 
 

An adult safeguarding concern was received from the local Drug & Alcohol 

Dependence Service to alert the adult safeguarding team of a possible “cuckooing” 

situation involving one of their service users, Samuel. Samuel had informed the service 

of people using his property to use and circulate drugs and was limiting his access  
to the accommodation. Samuel stated that although he wanted this to end, he was 

extremely anxious about possible repercussions, and wanted any subsequent actions 

to be at a pace that was agreed by him. 
 

The referring agency had begun to establish Samuel’s wishes and his vulnerability, 

including his ability to address the situation themselves. The team initially concluded that 

Samuel was able to make his own decisions and that there was a plan in place to deal 

with the current situation which suited his needs. Samuel also stated that he was happy 

for the drug and alcohol worker to advocate for him at any upcoming meetings. 
 

Further concerns were received regarding Samuel. This led to a multi-agency 

meeting which included the drug and alcohol team, adult social care, safer 

neighbourhood team, housing and police, to discuss options for him. 
 

The drug and alcohol worker discussed the potential options with Samuel, who initially 

stated that he wanted a full closure order to help him. A time frame was agreed, and 

alternative accommodation was sourced which was then shared with him. 
 

These plans were disrupted after neighbours alerted police to the fact that Samuel had 

not been seen for a couple of days, which they thought was unusual. Staff undertook a 

visit to the property, which led to the implementation of the previously agreed support 

plan. Samuel was facilitated to move into emergency accommodation, provided with a 

support plan and his property was closed by the Safer Neighbourhood Team. 
 

Samuel reported that his experience with services was positive, although he 

identified that the temporary accommodation did not have the basics due to him 

leaving his home at short notice. This was taken on board by agencies who will be 

incorporating this into a forthcoming multi-agency protocol. Samuel also commented 

on the value of having one link worker who was able to provide updates and outline 

the options available to him. 
 

 
 27 Page 55



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Age UK 
 

● There has been a focus on preventative work to support adults, and there 

have been a number of examples where Age UK have achieved positive 

outcomes in supporting people. 
 

● There has been an increase in calls made to carers to check on their 

welfare and wellbeing. 
 

● Work was undertaken to support residents, who required it, to join video 

meetings. This enabled the team to get better insight into their unspoken 

circumstances. 
 

The Advocacy Project 
 

● Staff within the organisation continue to raise safeguarding alerts and 

provide support for people through safeguarding enquiries. Safeguarding 

training has helped increase the depth of understanding amongst the 

advocates of what constitutes safeguarding. The quality of support to 

people experiencing abuse has improved with advocates providing a more 

holistic approach across different legislation. This is notable in terms of 

supporting people who experience abuse alongside their acute mental 

health support needs. 
 

● The team continues to strive to create dynamic professional working 
relationships across the borough. This helps ensure that professionals 
have multiple ways to seek support from advocates to support Hackney 
residents. The professional relationships built by the advocacy team result 
in referrals and support for people experiencing abuse being often made 
direct to the advocates on the frontline; this is notable in referrals from the  
Homerton Hospital and adult social care teams. The online / telephone 

referral process helps ensure that people experiencing abuse and 

professionals supporting them have timely access to advocacy support. 
 

● Advocates have continued to build upon their skills and their 
understanding of the local community. This helps ensure that issues are 
picked up on and responded to, alerted, and escalated appropriately.  
Working in a person-centred way with individual clients but having a great 

understanding of the community issues means that over the year there 

was a need to raise over 60 safeguarding alerts by advocates on behalf of 

those experiencing abuse / at risk of abuse. 
 

Turning Point 
 

● The rough sleeper project has utilised the rough sleeper multi-disciplinary 

partnership meeting to discuss risk and safeguarding cases allowing the 

formulation of joint risk assessments and care plans for vulnerable rough 

sleepers. 
 

● Opiate substitute prescribing can be included in a monthly depo form; 

which has been a treatment option for people with memory or and mobility 

issues reducing trips to pharmacies or missing appointments. 
 

 
28  Page 56



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

● Turning Point ensures that Specialist teams and workers reflect the 

diverse community and endeavour to meet needs of vulnerable adult 

service users. 
 

London Borough of Hackney Benefits and Housing Needs 
 

● The Benefits and Housing Needs Service led the Everyone In programme 

for the protection of rough sleepers and those at risk of homelessness in 

response to the Covid-19 pandemic to save lives. At its peak, the project 

had secured accommodation, food, support and health care for  
219 vulnerable residents with multiple and complex needs, including 44 

individuals with no recourse to public funds. The accommodation was 

provided for two years and provided regular testing and health screening 

and Covid-19 vaccinations and a larger range of health interventions. 
 

● The service made a successful bid to the Government’s RSAP funding 

prospectus totalling £1.7m to deliver more, newly refurbished self-

contained temporary and supported accommodation for rough sleepers. 
 

● Our primary frontline response to rough sleeping is delivered through the 

Street Outreach team (SORT). In 2020/21, the Hackney SORT service 

assisted 350 rough sleepers; 47% of which were non-UK nationals. 

Despite the significant increase in the annual rough sleeper numbers, 

Hackney has maintained low levels of street population through early 

intervention and a coordinated support and housing offer. 
 

City and Hackney Public Health team 
 

● Partnership work has been undertaken with Change Please and the Driving 

For Change initiative. This is an innovative and disruptive approach to 

tackling homelessness, that brings direct intervention for those in need. 

Using revamped London buses as a delivery site, Rough sleepers are 

given first-hand access to GP consultations, a mobile dentist, showers and 

haircuts on board, all of which are valued services for vulnerable homeless 

people. The bus is sited in Hackney Central (near the Hackney Empire) on  
Thursdays and in Dalston (Gillett Square) on Fridays. 

 
● Hackney is one of the leading boroughs in London in ensuring that our 

homeless residents are vaccinated to protect them from Covid-19. 67% of 

the people experiencing homelessness in Hackney are now fully 

vaccinated. This incredible achievement in supporting clinically vulnerable 

homeless residents to access covid vaccinations places Hackney as the 

4th highest in London. This vaccination rate has been achieved despite the 

significant challenges that all too often mean that the homeless population 

do not access the medical care they need. 
 

● Two social events were held at the Greenhouse with free food, clothing, 

haircuts, housing advice, smoking cessation support, drug and alcohol 

advice, Streetvet advice and treatment, which acted as an encouragement 

to also receive a flu jab and Covid-19 vaccination. 
 

 
 29 Page 57



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

30 Page 44 Page 58



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Safeguarding data for 2021/22 

 

The safeguarding data for 2021/22 is presented separately for the City and 

Hackney. This data is submitted to NHS Digital’s Safeguarding Adults 

Collection, which collects statutory returns on safeguarding. 
 

City of London  
● 60 safeguarding concerns were raised 

 
● 33 of the concerns led to Section 42 Enquiry 

 
● Of the 35 concluded cases 27 were asked about their desired outcome, 

of which 18 expressed their desired outcomes. Of the 18 people that 

expressed 17 had their desires fully or partially achieved 
 

● 19 repeat concerns whereby 14 individuals accounted for this cohort 
 

Concerns by ethnicity 

 

100 
                 

 

            2%    4%  
 

90 
 

20% 
     

12% 
 2%    11%  

 

                
 

                  
7% 

  
 

          3%         
 

80        2%          

5%  
 

70 

 

8% 
   2%  

79% 

       
 

            

74% 

 
 

                
 

                
 

60 

 

68% 

              
 

                  
 

50 
                     

 

                     
 

40 
                     

 

                     
 

30 
                     

 

                     
 

20 
                     

 

                     
 

10 
                     

 

                     
 

0 
                     

 

 
Concerns 21/22 

   
Census 2011 

  
Concerns 20/21 

 

       
 

    
White 

 
 Mixed 

 
Asian 

 
Black 

 
 Other  

 
Unknown 

 

         
 

 

This data should be reviewed with some caution given that a fifth of residents 

did not disclose their ethnicity. In 2021/22, 68% of safeguarding concerns 

started were from “White” ethnicity, which is slightly lower than the 2011 City 

of London census breakdown. 8% of safeguarding concerns were for people 

from a “Asian / Asian British” background, which is a slight increase from 

2020/21, where concerns accounted for 5%. This information is anticipated 

given that people from an Asian and Asian British background account for the 

second largest ethnic group in the City of London. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 31 Page 59



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Concerns by age 
 

100 
 

5% 
            

9% 
 

 

              
 

90 
                   

 

                   
 

80 
                   

 

                   
 

70 
                 

 

 
1 

     85%        
 

60 
             

3 
 

 

  

13 

             
 

                
 

50 
              

8 
 

 

                 
 

40 
  7             

14 

 
 

  5              
 

30 

                   
 

  

34 

            

10 
 

 

               
 

20 

                 
 

                

22 

 
 

                 
 

10 

                 
 

                   
 

                   
 

0 

                   
 

                   
 

   
Concerns 21/22 

        
Concerns 20/21 

 

            
 

    

Age 18-64 
 

Age 65-74 
 

Age 75-84   

 

Age 85-94 
 

Age 95+ 
 

Age unknown 
 

         
  

 

The majority of safeguarding concerns were for people aged 18-64 which 
was also the case during 2020/21. This was followed by people aged 85-  
94 whereas last year it was followed by people aged 75-84. The increased 

number of younger people aged 18-64 years with safeguarding concerns is 

thought to be linked to homelessness and rough sleeping. This trend is also 

apparent in last year's data. Prior to 2019/20 those aged 65 or over made up 

a larger proportion of safeguarding concerns. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
32  Page 60



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Concerns by gender 
 

100 
           

 

           
 

90 
           

 

           
 

80 
          

 

     44%     
 

70 
           

 

           
 

60 
           

 

 

28 

         
 

          
 

50 
        

19 
 

 

         
 

          
 

40 
           

 

     

56% 

    
 

         
 

30 

       

38 

 
 

 

32 

      
 

         
 

20 

          
 

           
 

           
 

10 
           

 

           
 

0 

           
 

           
 

 
Concerns 21/22 

    
Concerns 20/21 

 

      
 

     

Male 
   

Female 
 

        
  

 

There were a similar number of males and females that were reported into 

adult safeguarding. This is consistent with national data obtained in NHS 

Digitals Safeguarding Adults Collection (SAC) which show that the number of 

safeguarding concerns for females and males are broadly the same. 
 

Concerns by type of abuse 
 

 1 

3 

     
 

 1%      
 

 9 
4% 

 
Multiple types of  

 

13% 

 
 

 

24%  
17

 

 abuse aggregated into 
 

4 
6% 

 abuse categories 
 

      
 

       
 

     

  Financial 
 

     
 

     

  Neglect 
 

     
 

     

  Organisational 
 

     
 

  

3% 
2 

  

 Physical 
 

    
 

17 

24% 
    

Psychological 
 

    
 

     
 

     

 Self Neglect 
 

     
 

  

18% 

    

Sexual 
 

      
 

      

Domestic 
 

      
 

 

7% 13 
    

 

     

Modern Day Slavery 
 

     
 

       
   

5 

 

The most common form of abuse was evenly split between self-neglect and 

neglect and acts of omission. The number of domestic abuse concerns being 

reported into the City of London also continues to increase accounting for 

13% of the concerns. Financial abuse continues to decline, this could be due 

to better awareness of scams. Alternatively, it may be that since the Covid-19 

pandemic there could have been an increase in different types of abuse, 

such as self-neglect. 
 

 33  Page 61



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Concerns by location of risk  
 
 

 

2 3%  
% 

 

 
 

10%  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

48% 

 
 
 
 
 

 

20%  

The majority of safeguarding 
concerns related to alleged abuse 
that happened in the person’s own 
home. This is consistent with 
national data which identifies that  

17% abuse typically happens within 

someone’s own home. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Community 
 

Hospital 
 

Own home 
 

  
 

Other 
 

Care Home 
 

Multiple 
 

  
  

 
 
 
 

 

Concerns by source of risk 
 
 

3 
1 

8 
 

2 
 

  
 

5%  % 13% 
  

 
 

 

In line with previous years and  
national data, the overwhelming  
source of risk was someone  
known to the individual. 

 
 
 
 

 

80% 

 
48 

 

 

Service Provider 
 

Known to individual 
 

 
 

Unknown to individual 
  

Multiple 
 

  
  

 

 

34  Page 62



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Source of referral 
 

 
5 

1 5  
 

 2 

9% 3 
 

  
9%    

%
  

   

1 
 

5 
  5% 

 

9% 
  2 

 

  %  

   
  

 
 
 
 

 

9 
16%    

 

    
 

  36% 20 
 

 11%    
 

 6    
 

 
COL ASC Team 

 
Health Services 

 
 

   
 

 

COL Police 
 

Relative/Self Referral/Friend 
 

  
 

 

City Connections 
 

Service Provider 
 

 

   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The top three sources of 

referral were from health 

services, the City of London 

Corporation and from service 

providers. Other referrals 

included concerns being 

reported in by the Home Office 

and London Fire Brigade. It is 

positive to see a wider range 

of agencies refer concerns into 

the City of London Adult 

Safeguarding. 
 
 
 

 

Voluntary   
Other   
Other Commissioned Support  

 
 
 
 

 

Making Safeguarding Personal  
 
 

5% 
3

 

% 
 
 
 
 

24% 
 

44% 
 
 
 
 
 

 

24% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2021/22 
MSP

 Concluded 
S42 Enquiries

 

0/ 1 MSP Concl d 
PersonalS42EquiriesOutcomesPeronal(Source:OutcomesSAC2021/22) 
 
(Source: SAC 2020/21) 

 

Yes - Outcomes asked and expressed 

Yes - Outcomes asked but not expressed 

No 
 

Don’t know  
 

Not recorded  

 

 
 
 

In total 68% of people were asked about their desired outcomes, of which 95% 

had their desires either fully or partially met. This represents a lower figure than 

the previous year and this is likely to be due to challenges with the current 
 

 
 35 Page 63



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

reporting system. The data system continues to be refined and the data around 

Making Safeguarding Personal will be monitored to see whether there has been 

any changes to the way this is being delivered. 
 

London Borough of Hackney 

In last year’s annual report, the London Borough of Hackney was unable to 

provide a full set of safeguarding data due to the impact of the Cyberattack. 

This year it is possible to deliver a full data set for Hackney, however it is 

important to note that whilst efforts have been made to ensure the data is as 

fully accurate as possible there should be some caution exercised when 

reviewing figures. This is due to an interim system being used which could 

cause some duplication in figures. 
 

Concerns by source of risk 
 

Total number of Safeguarding Concerns and Enquiries, 2015 to 2022 

 

2000                                                 
 

                                  

1760 

   

1790 

   
 

                                         
 

1500 
      

1261 

   
1336 

   
1392    

1331 

                 
 

                             
 

1000 

                                     

                                    
 

                                             

                                            
 

                                                
 

661 

                                 

717 

   

599 

 
 

                                      
 

                                           

500 

        

508 

   

482 

   

477 

   

500 

           
 

      

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

               
 

                        
 

  

257 

                   

285 

    

329 
    

337 
    

57 

 
 

                                   
 

        

127 
    

142 
                       

 

0 

    0                                     
 

                                                
 

2015/16 2016/17  

2017/18  

2018/19  

2019/20  

2020/21  

2021/22  
 

       
 

                      
YEAR 

        (est.)  (est.) 
 

                                           
 

       

Concerns 
 

Accepted S42 Enquiries 
   

Accepted Other Enquiries 
 

           
  

 

The data should be reviewed with a level of caution due to the on-going impact 

of the cyberattack affecting the London Borough of Hackney. The general trend 

shows that there have been an increase in the number of concerns being 

referred to adult safeguarding. There have generally been more cases that have 

met the criteria for section 42 enquiry over the past year; although the figures 

have reduced in the past year, this may be due to more accurate data capture. 

The Board will continue to monitor this over the course of the year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
36 Page 64



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Age 

 

Proportion of Concerns by Age Band 
 

50%  
 

46.6% 
 

40%  
 

 
30%  

 

 

20% 
               

 

               
 

                
 

        

15.9% 
       

 

      
14.9%         

 

10% 
        

11.7% 
     

 

              
 

         

1.8% 

 

2.6% 

 
 

           
 

 6.5%           
 

0% 
               

 

  

26-64 65-74 

 

75-84 85-94 95+ 

 

Unknown 
 

18-25   
  

AGE BAND 
 

The data shows minimum change in profile from previous years, with the 
highest amount of concerns being raised in respect of residents aged 26 -  
64 years old. Over half the recorded concerns relate to people under the age 

of 64 years old, which is in contrast to the national picture of safeguarding, 

captured by NHS Digital’s Safeguarding Adults Collection, which highlights 

that abuse is typically experienced by older adults. The reason for this is likely 

to be due to the younger demographic based in Hackney, which has a lower 

proportion of older adults in comparison to other Local Authorities across 

England. 
 

Gender 

 

Proportion of Concerns by Gender  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

47.9% 52.1% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Male Female  

 
 

 

There is a slightly higher number 

of females referred into adult 

safeguarding in comparison to 

males. This is consistent with the 

2021 census for Hackney1 which 

highlights there are more females 

living in the Borough and 

therefore there is an expectation 

that there would be a slightly 

higher proportion of safeguarding 

referrals for females. 

 
 

1https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/ 

populationandhouseholdestimatesenglandandwalescensus2021 

 
 37 Page 65

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationandhouseholdestimatesenglandandwalescensus2021
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationandhouseholdestimatesenglandandwalescensus2021


 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Ethnicity 
 

Proportion of Concerns by Ethnicity 
 

50%  
 

 

40% 
                 

 

                 
 

                
 

30% 
 34.0%               

 

               
29.9% 

 
 

                 
 

                  
 

20% 
         

22.2% 
       

 

                
 

10% 
                 

 

    

2.7% 
            

 

                 
 

      
6.6% 

          
 

0% 

          

4.4% 
 

0.1% 
   

 

               
 

                 
 

  
White Mixed / 

 
Asian / Black / African / Other Refused Undeclared / 

 

    
 

     Multiple Asian British Caribbean / Ethnic   Not Known 
 

         Black British Groups     
  

ETHNICITY 

 

Due to the cyberattack and lack of access to case management software 

capturing accurate data around ethnicity continues to prove challenging. 

Whilst it is positive to see an increase in data captured around ethnicity, in 

nearly a third of all concerns no information was obtained. The data that is 

available shows that most concerns continue to relate to adults from a White 

or Black African, Caribbean, or British background. This is consistent with the 

profile of Hackney, whereby people from a White or Black African, Caribbean 

or British background make up most of the population. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
38  Page 66



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Forms of abuse 
 

Proportion of Concerns by Type of Risk 

 
                   

 

Self-Neglect                26.0%   
 

Neglect and Acts 
                  

 

          
19.1% 

     
 

of Omission 
               

 

                  
 

Financial and 
                  

 

          
17.8% 

      
 

Material Abuse 
                

 

                  
 

Psychological Abuse 

                  
 

          15.2%        
 

Physical Abuse 

                 
 

        11.5%         
 

Domestic Abuse 

                  
 

    5.4%             
 

Sexual Abuse 

                  
 

 3.2%               
 

Organisational Abuse 

                  
 

                 
 

   0.7%               
 

Sexual Exploitation 

                  
 

                 
 

  0.4%               
 

Modern Slavery 

                 
 

                 
 

  0.4%               
 

Discriminatory Abuse 

                 
 

                
 

  0.3%               
 

                   
 

                   
 

 0.0% 5% 10% 15%  20% 25% 
 

         % OF ALL CONCERNS      
  

 

Self-neglect continues to be the most common form of abuse reported into adult 

safeguarding as a concern. This data is interesting as it is in some respects at 

odds with the SAC Collection, which collects safeguarding data across 

England, which recognises that neglect and acts of omission as the most 

common form of abuse. It is important to note that self-neglect is the fastest 

growing form of abuse in England. It is positive to see that after extensive 

awareness raising and focus on self-neglect there are more people being 

referred into Adult Safeguarding with concerns regarding self-neglect. 

Addressing the underlying causes of self-neglect and how to support residents 

who self-neglect continues to be a priority for the Board in 2022/23. Further 

information on the profile of self-neglect in Hackney can be found at page 44 
 

The prevalence of other forms of abuse remains broadly consistent with 

previous years. Neglect and acts of omissions have overtaken financial abuse 

as the second highest form of abuse. The Board will continue to review trends 

over the forthcoming year to assess whether there are any specific 

safeguarding trends arising as a result of the long-term impacts of Covid-19 

and the economic recession. 
 
 
 
 

 
 39 Page 67



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Source of risk 
 

Proportion of Concerns by Source of Risk  
 
 

 
9.4% 

 

 

12.9% 

 
Known to Individual   
Unknown to Individual   
Service Provider  

 

 

77.6% 
 
 
 
 

 

The data shows that the source of risk is most likely to be someone known to 

the individual, which makes up nearly 77% of the concerns referred into 

Adult Safeguarding. This is consistent with national data captured in the SAC 

collection which shows that the perpetrator of abuse is most likely to be 

someone known to the person. There has been a significant increase in the 

service provider being identified as the source of risk, from 4% in 2020/21 to 

9.4% in 2021/22. This is not considered as an area of concern for the Board, 

on the basis that the figures for 2020/21 were exceptionally low compared to 

the usual figures for Hackney. The source of risk data for 2021/22 is 

consistent with the national figures around this. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
40  Page 68



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Source of referral 
 

Proportion of Concerns by Source of Referral and Source of Risk  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

S
O

U
R

C
E

 O
F

 R
E

F
E

R
R

A
L
 

 

 
Other Commissioned 

Service 
 

Hospital 

 
Health Professional 

 
Council Service 

 
Friends / family / 

neighbour 
 

Non-LBH Housing 
Services 

 
Police 

 
Care Home Provider 

 
Fire Brigade 

 
Home Care Provider 

 
Voluntary Sector 

 
Ambulance Service 

 
Self 

 
0.0% 5.0% 10.0% 15.0%

 20.0% 25.0% 
 

 

There has been a significant increase in the number of safeguarding concerns 

reported to be from an ‘other commissioned service’, overtaking hospitals, 

health professionals and the police. The recording system for adult 

safeguarding has been reviewed and from April 2022 there will be a more 

detailed breakdown of the ‘source of referral’ which will help the Board better 

understand which agencies are referring concerns into the Adult Safeguarding. 
 

It is positive to see an increase in safeguarding referrals from friends and 

family. The Board will continue to work with residents and community groups to 

build awareness of adult safeguarding across the City and Hackney. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 41 Page 69



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Location of risk 
 

Proportion of S42 Decisions by Location of Risk 
 

 

100.0% 
                     

 

  

46.6% 

                
 

                   
 

80% 
 

83% 
                   

 

                    
 

                     
 

60% 
                     

 

                     
 

40% 
                     

 

     

14.9% 15.9% 

          
 

                
 

20% 
         

11.7% 
       

 

            

 

      
 

                  
 

      2.7%  2.0%   1.6% 0.4%  0.4%  0.3%  
 

0.0% 

  

 7.2%  

                
 

                  
 

 
Own 

 
In the Hospital- Care Home-  Other Community Care Home- 

 
Hospital-  

 

    
 

  Home Community  Acute  Nursing   Service Residential Community 
 

    (exclu...                 
   

The data continues to show that most abuse occurs within the home. The 

figures for abuse within the own home continue to grow and this is likely to be a 

knock-on impact of the increase figures in relation to self-neglect, as most/ all 

cases will occur within the own home. There is no data in relation to abuse 

occurring within mental health hospitals; this is due to East London Foundation 

Trust’s data not being included in data as a result of recording differences 

between the Trust and London Borough of Hackney. 
 

Making Safeguarding Personal  
 

 

7.6% 
 
 
 
 
 
 

% of concluded S42 Enquiries where  
adult was asked what their desired  
outcomes where 

 
 
 
 
 

 

92.4% 
 

 

Yes No  
 
 

 
42  Page 70



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 
 
 

 

10.3% 
 
 
 
 

 

  % of outcomes achieved for concluded 

  S42 Enquiries (where adult expressed 

40.3% 49.4% their desired outcomes) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Fully achieved 
 

Partially achieved 
 

Not achieved 
 

  
  

 
 

It has been possible to collate Making Safeguarding Personal data for 2021/22. 

This information is helpful to help ensure that safeguarding is person-centred 

and the process focuses on the wishes and needs of the individual. 
 

The data shows that nearly 93% of people were asked about their desired 

outcomes. Of which, nearly 90% had their desires either partially or 

completely met. This is consistent with previous data. It is noted that some 

people are unable to express their desired outcomes therefore the Board 

would not expect to see 100% of residents expressing their wishes in relation 

to the safeguarding process. 
 

This year it has been possible to evaluate whether people felt safer and 

involved in the safeguarding process. The rates of people being asked this is 

lower, however the data shows that an overwhelming majority of those involved 

in safeguarding felt safer and involved in the process. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 43 Page 71



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Self-neglect data 
 

Proportion of Concerns by Ethnicity and Age Band 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

E
T

H
N

IC
IT

Y
 

 
 
 

Undeclared 

                

   

 

18-25 

 

                 
 

Not known                     26-64 
 

White 

                    
65-74  

                    
 

   

                 

75-84 

 

                 
 

Black / African                     85-94  

                    
 

Caribbean    

                 

95+ 

 

                 
 

Black British                     
 

                    
 

Asian / Asian 
                    

Unknown 
 

                  
 

                  
 

British                    
 

Mixed / 
                     

 

                     
 

Multiple                    
 

Other Ethnic 
 

 
                   

 

                    
 

Group                      
 

                    
 

Refused                      
 

                      
 

0.0% 10.0%   20.0% 30.0% 40.0%   
  

 
 

The data shows that people from a white background aged between 26 - 64 

years old are more likely to be referred into adult safeguarding in respect of 

self-neglect. There are also proportionately high rates of self-neglect amongst 

the 65 - 74 age group as well. This data needs to be interpreted with a level of 

caution given that ethnicity was not recorded in many cases, therefore a full 

picture of the links between self-neglect and ethnicity are not clear. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
44  Page 72



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 

 

Proportion of Concerns by Source of Referral and Age Band 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

S
O

U
R

C
E

 O
F

 R
E

F
E

R
R

A
L
 

 
 
 

Other 
                                   

 

 

18-25 
 

 

                               

 

 

  

 

                                
 

Commissioned                                      

26-64 
 

Service                                 
 
 

   
 

                                
 

Hospital 

                                   

 

 

65-74 
 

                                    
 

                                     

75-84 

 

                                     
 

Health 
                                     

 

                                     85-94 
 

Professional                                      

95+ 
 

Fire Brigade 

                                     
 

                                     Unknown 
 

Non-LBH Housing  
                                     

 

                                     
 

Services                                       
 

                                       
 

Council Service                           
 

Police 

                                      
 

                                      
 

Voluntary Sector 

                                      
 

                                      
 

Friend / Family / 
         

 
  
   

                       
 

                                  
 

Neighbour                                    
 

Care Home 
  

 
   

 
    

    
                       

 

                                
 

Provider                                
 

                                       
 

Ambulance Service                                 
 

Home Care 
    

 
   

       
                       

 

                              
 

Provider                                  
 

                                       
 

Self                                  
 

                                       
 

                                       
 

 
0.0% 5.0% 10.0% 15.0% 20.0% 25.0% 

 

 

It is positive to see that there is a wide range of professionals referring 

self-neglect cases into adult safeguarding, this includes self-referrals and 

referrals from friends and family. The data shows that most concerns are 

reported from health although there are relatively high proportions of 

concerns being reported from the London Fire Brigade too. The Board will 

continue to explore the issue of self-neglect and continue to refine our 

response to this as a Borough. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 45 Page 73



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
46  Page 74



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Appendix A:  

 

CHSAB Annual Strategic Plan 2021-2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 75



 

 

CHSAB Annual Strategic Plan 2022 – 2023 

 

The CHSAB Plan addresses the six core principles contained in the CHSAB’s Strategy for 2020 – 2025 
 48   

 

 Partner Lead 
 

   
 

 London Borough of Hackney (LBH) Helen Woodland 
 

   
 

 City and Hackney CCG (CCG) Diane Jones / 
 

  Mary O’Reardon 
 

 City of London Police Anna Rice 
 

   
 

 Barts Health NHS Trust Claire Hughes 
 

   
 

 London Fire Brigade (City of London James O’Neill 
 

 and Hackney)  
 

    

 National Probation Trust Stephanie Salmon 
 

   
 

 Healthwatch Hackney Jon Williams 
 

  
 

Hackney CVS Saqib Deshmurkh  

 
 

   
  

London Borough of Hackney and City of Andrew Trathen 
 

London Public Health 
 

 

  
 

    

 Turning Point (substance misuse service) Jude Unsworth 
 

   
 

 Older Person’s Reference Group Cynthia White 
 

   
 

 Commissioning LBH Zainab Jalil 
 

   
  

 

Sub-group Chair 
  

SAR & Case Review Chris Pelham 
  

Quality Assurance John Binding 
  

SAR Action Plan Group Mary O’Reardon 
   

 

Sub-Committee Chair 
  

City of London Dr Adi Cooper 
  

 

 
 

Partner  Lead 
 

City of London Corporation (CoL) 
 

Andrew Carter / 
 

 
 

  Chris Pelham 
 

   
 

Hackney Metropolitan Police (MPS)  Marcus Barnett / 
 

  Daniel Rutland 
 

Homerton University Hospital  Breeda McManus / 
 

Foundation Trust (HUHFT)  Jennie Wood 
 

    

East London Foundation Trust (ELFT)  Dean Henderson 
 

    

Age UK  Larissa Howells 
 

    

Department of Work and Pensions  Laura Anderson 
 

    

Healthwatch City of London  Paul Coles 
 

    

The Advocacy Project  Judith Davey 
 

   
 

London Borough of Hackney Housing  Jennifer Wynter 
 

   
 

City and Hackney Safeguarding  Jim Gamble 
 

Children’s Partnership   
 

    

City of London Commissioning  Ian Jarman 
 

    

City of London Housing  Liam Gillespie 
 

     
 

Task & Finish Groups Chair 
  

Transitional Safeguarding Dr Adi Cooper 
(joint group with Community  

Safety Partnership & Children’s  

Safeguarding Partnership  
  

Safeguarding and Anti-Social Dr Adi Cooper 

Behaviour  

 
 C

ity
 &

 H
a
c
k
n
e
y
 S

a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 A

d
u
lts

 B
o
a
rd  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p
o

rt 2
0

2
1
/2

2 

P
age 76



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 4
9 

 
 

Principle 1: Proportionality - “I am sure that the professionals will work in my interest, as I see 

them and they will only get involved as much as needed.” 
  

 Priority Action Lead Intended Impact Update 
 

      
 

 1. To continue to 1.1 LPS Leads in the City and Hackney Adult LPS Leads 1. The Board is  
 

 raise awareness in Social Care will provide assurances to the  confident that  
 

 relation to mental Board that they have appropriately prepared  practitioners can  
 

 capacity, including for the introduction of LPS. This includes  exercise their duties  
 

 

responding accordingly to any national issues 
 

in relation to LPS 
 

 

 seeking assurance 
  

 

 

and staff are trained to 
 

2. Residents in the City 

 
 

 from partners   
 

    
 

 on preparing   and Hackney will  
 

 their staff for the   have appropriate  
 

   LPS arrangements 
 

 

 

introduction of the 
   

 

   in place.  
 

 Liberty Protection     
 

 

1.2 LPS Leads will work in partnership with Head of Adult 1. The Board is 
 

 

 Safeguards.  
 

 Childrens’ Services and the Safeguarding Safeguarding assured that all 16 
 

 

 

Please see section 
 

 

 Childrens’ Partnership to ensure that staff / LPS Project - 17 year olds that  
 

 6 on self-neglect are appropriately trained in relation to mental Lead require a LPS are  
 

 for aligning capacity and understand how LPS will apply to  provided with this  
 

 actions. their services.  2. That there are  
 

    effective transitions  
 

    of young adults on  
 

    an LPS into adult  
 

  

1.3 The workforce development leads will review 

 services  
 

  CHSAB 1. There is assurance  
 

  training content in relation to mental capacity, Manager / that mental  
 

  to ensure that it provides practical approaches Head of Adult capacity training  
 

  to responding to complex issues relating to Safeguarding gives staff practical  
 

  mental capacity. City of London advice on how to  
 

   and London apply the Act and  
 

   Borough of key learning around  
 

   Hackney mental capacity  
 

      
  

 
 C

ity
 &

 H
a
c
k
n
e
y
 S

a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 A

d
u
lts

 B
o
a
rd  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p
o

rt 2
0

2
1
/2

2 

P
age 77



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

U
p

d
a

te
 

    
 

    
 

 

o f f e r e d 

 

c a p a c i t y . 

 

  

h a v e 

 
 

In
te

nd
ed

Im

pa
ct

 

t o
 

o
r 

la
c
k

 

 

m
o

re
 

 
 w h o 

 
 

2 . T h e r e
 

r e s i d e n t s f l u c t u a t i n g e x e c u t i v e 

 

 

i s
 

   
 

 

s
u

p
p

o
rt

 

  
 

 
 
 
 

 

L
e
a
d

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A
c
ti

o
n

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

 
 

 
50  Page 78



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 5
1 

 
 

Principle 2: Empowerment - “I am asked what I want as the outcomes from the 

safeguarding process and this directly informs what happens.” 
  

 Priority Action Lead Intended Impact Update 
 

      
 

 2. To engage with 2.1 The Hackney CVS and the Board Manager CHSAB 1. Voluntary sector  
 

 the community will work together to expand the Boards reach Manager / services will feel  
 

 and voluntary into the community, including: HCVS more empowered  
 

 
sector to support a. Meet with senior management teams in 

 to support  
 

  residents with their  
 

 them to build Hackney CVS to develop a strategy for 
  

 

  safeguarding needs 
 

 

 

their confidence engagement with voluntary sector groups 
  

 

  

2. There will be 
 

 

 
in delivering their b. Set up a regular forum to discuss adult 

  
 

  an increase in  
 

 safeguarding safeguarding with voluntary and 
  

 

  intelligence from  
 

 

duties and raise community groups 
  

 

  voluntary sector  
 

 

awareness of adult c. Undertake promotional work with voluntary 
  

 

  services being  
 

 safeguarding and sector groups to raise the profile of  referred back to the  
 

  the Board  CHSAB  
 

    3. There will be  
 

    an increased  
 

    awareness of the  
 

    adult safeguarding  
 

    and the CHSAB  
 

    across voluntary  
 

    sector services  
 

    in the City and  
 

    Hackney  
 

  2.2 The Board will recruit and train a new CHSAB 1. There will be a Panel  
 

  cohort of Safeguarding Champions to raise Manager / of Champions who  
 

  awareness of safeguarding across the HCVS are able to deliver  
 

  community.  safeguarding pre-  
 

    sentations across the  
 

    City and Hackney  
  

 
 C

ity
 &

 H
a
c
k
n
e
y
 S

a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 A

d
u
lts

 B
o
a
rd  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p
o

rt 2
0

2
1
/2

2 

P
age 79



 

 

 5
2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Principle 2: Empowerment...  
 

 Priority Action Lead Intended Impact Update  
 

       
 

    2. There will be   
 

    increased awareness   
 

    of adult safeguarding   
 

    amongst residents in   
 

  

2.3 To create a suite of resources to help voluntary 

 the City and Hackney   
 

  CHSAB 1. The voluntary   
 

  sector agencies deliver and audit their Manager / sector will feel more   
 

  safeguarding duties HCVS / empowered to provide   
 

   The Advocacy adult safeguarding   
 

   Project / support.   
 

   Age UK 2. The Board will receive   
 

    assurances that adult   
 

    safeguarding is being   
 

    delivered effectively   
 

    amongst the voluntary   
 

  

2.4 The Board will create a feedback loop with 

 sector   
 

  CHSAB 1. There will be a better   
 

  voluntary sector staff and volunteers so that Manager / understanding of the   
 

  safeguarding issues and intelligence can be HCVS / safeguarding issues   
 

  routinely shared with the Board. The Advocacy affecting residents in   
 

   Project / the City and Hackney   
 

   Age UK 2. There will be   
 

    increased   
 

    engagement with the   
 

    Board’s work and   
 

  

2.5 Healthwatch will invite the Board to contribute 

 resources   
 

  Healthwatch 1. There will be better   
 

  to a selection of their reviews of health services  understanding   
 

  in the London Borough of Hackney to assess  of how well adult   
 

  practice in relation to adult safeguarding.  safeguarding   
 

    is embedded   
 

    operationally across   
 

       
  

 
 C

ity
 &

 H
a
c
k
n
e
y
 S

a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 A

d
u
lts

 B
o
a
rd  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p
o

rt 2
0

2
1
/2

2 

P
age 80



 

 

 

 Priority Action Lead Intended Impact Update 
 

      
 

    organisations in the  
 

    City and Hackney  
 

    2. The Board will  
 

    have increased  
 

    intelligence on adult  
 

    safeguarding issues  
 

    in the City and  
 

  

3.1 The Advocacy Project will deliver the Lived 

 Hackney  
 

 3. To continue The Advocacy 1. The Board will be  
 

 to embed Experience of Safeguarding Service, obtaining Project able to identify  
 

 engagement with feedback on people’s experiences of  how to improve  
 

 people with lived safeguarding. As part of this, the organisation  adult safeguarding  
 

 

will be required to provide quarterly feedback 
 

services for residents 
 

 

 experience and 
  

 

 

on the delivery of the service. 
 

2. The Board will be 

 
 

 ensure that they   
 

    
 

 can influence all   able to ensure  
 

 aspects of the 
  that safeguarding  

 

  services are person 
 

 

 

Board’s work 
   

 

 

3.2 The Board Manager will work with corporate 

 centred  
 

 

 CHSAB 1. The Board’s annual  
 

 communications teams to set up a system of Manager / strategic plan will  
 

   
 

  yearly consultation to ensure that residents in London reflect the needs and  
 

  the City and Hackney are given the opportunity Borough of concerns of residents  
 

  to influence the work of the Board. Hackney within the City and  
 

   corporate Hackney  
 

   teams/   
 

   City of London   
 

   Corporation   
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 5
3 

 
 

 C
ity

 &
 H

a
c
k
n
e
y
 S

a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 A

d
u
lts

 B
o
a
rd  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p
o

rt 2
0

2
1
/2

2 

P
age 81



 

 

 5
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Principle 3: Prevention - “I receive clear and simple information about what abuse is, how 

to recognise the signs and what I can do to seek help.” 
  

 Priority Action Lead Intended Impact Update  
 

       
 

 4. To identify and 4.1 To audit concerns that do not reach the criteria London 1. The Board will better   
 

 respond to the for a s42(2) Enquiry under the Care Act 2014 to Borough understand which   
 

 needs of people identify whether there are any particular groups Hackney Adult groups require   
 

 who are at the that are ‘at the edge of care’ to be a focus for Social Care / support in terms of   
 

 ‘edge of care’ preventative support City of London prevention   
 

 and may not have  Corporation 2. The Board will be   
 

 safeguarding  Adult Social able to identify key   
 

 needs that meet  Care priorities for future   
 

 the criteria for   years   
 

 section 42(2)      
 

 

4.2 To horizon scan which groups may be at Quality 1. The Board will better 
  

 

 safeguarding   
 

  high risk of falling through the gaps between assurance understand which   
 

  services and identify actions that can be taken sub-group groups require   
 

  to better support these groups  support in terms of   
 

    prevention   
 

    2. There will be better   
 

    support in place for   
 

    those people who   
 

    are high risk of There   
 

    will be better support   
 

    in place for those   
 

    people who are high   
 

    risk of safeguarding   
 

    3. There are less people   
 

    being referred   
 

    into safeguarding   
 

    services at ‘crisis   
 

    point’   
  

 
 C

ity
 &

 H
a
c
k
n
e
y
 S

a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 A

d
u
lts

 B
o
a
rd  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p
o

rt 2
0

2
1
/2

2 

P
age 82



 

 

 

 Priority Action Lead Intended Impact Update 
 

      
 

  4.3 To develop a pathway for people who may Quality 1. There is more  
 

  have safeguarding needs but are not eligible assurance equitable access  
 

  for support under s42(2) of the Care Act 2014 sub-group to safeguarding  
 

  so that frontline staff know how to support this  services for all  
 

  cohort.  residents  
 

    2. Professionals  
 

    will have a better  
 

    understanding of how  
 

    to apply legislation  
 

    around the Care  
 

    Act 2014, therefore  
 

    leading to greater  
 

    compliance with  
 

  

4.4 To review what support is being offered to 

 statutory duties  
 

  Quality 1. There is better  
 

 

 informal carers, particularly in circumstances assurance support offered to  
 

 where carers assessments have been refused, sub-group informal carers and  
 

 and identify how to improve safeguarding  there is an increased  
 

 support offered to them.  understanding  
 

 

   amongst informal  
 

   carers on what  
 

    support is available  
 

    to them  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 5
5 

 
 

 C
ity

 &
 H

a
c
k
n
e
y
 S

a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 A

d
u
lts

 B
o
a
rd  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p
o

rt 2
0

2
1
/2

2 

P
age 83



 

 

 5
6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

Principle 4: Partnership - “I know that staff treat any personal and sensitive information in 

confidence, only sharing what is helpful and necessary. I am confident that professionals 

will work together and with me to get the best result for me.” 
  

 Priority Action Lead Intended Impact Update  
 

       
 

 5. To work 5.1 The Transitional Safeguarding Task and Finish Transitional 1. There will be   
 

 collaboratively Group will continue to deliver the transitional safeguarding an improved   
 

 with agencies safeguarding action plan on behalf of CHSAB, T&F group safeguarding   
 

 and partnerships the Safeguarding Children’s Partnership and  response to young   
 

 across the City Community Safety Partnerships across City  adults in the City and   
 

 and Hackney to and Hackney .  Hackney   
 

 respond to the   
2. The work will build 

  
 

 safeguarding 
    

 

   trust amongst   
 

 needs of     
 

   young people   
 

 

residents. 
    

 

   and statutory   
 

  
5.2 The Anti-Social Behaviour and Safeguarding Anti-social 

organisations   
 

  1. Practitioners will   
 

  Task and Finish Group will continue to develop behaviour and have a better   
 

  a multi-agency response to both victims and safeguarding understanding of how   
 

  perpetrators of ASB who have safeguarding task and finish ASB is linked   
 

  needs. group to safeguarding   
 

    2. There will be   
 

    improved   
 

    interventions for   
 

    people who have   
 

    safeguarding needs   
 

    and also exhibit   
 

    anti-social behaviour   
 

    e.g support will be   
 

    offered at an earlier   
 

    stage.   
  

 
 C

ity
 &

 H
a
c
k
n
e
y
 S

a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 A

d
u
lts

 B
o
a
rd  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p
o

rt 2
0

2
1
/2

2 

P
age 84



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 5
7 

  

Priority Action Lead Intended Impact Update 
 

     
 

 5.3 The Board will review Modern Day Slavery Modern 1. Safeguarding will  
 

 work undertaken in the City and Hackney and Slavery inform prevention  
 

 identify further actions to address this issue Leads for City work and decrease  
 

 in terms of both prevention and support for of London the need for  
 

 victims. Corporation / people to receive  
 

  London safeguarding  
 

  Borough of support in the long-  
 

  Hackney term  
 

   2. Professionals  
 

   will have a better  
 

   understanding of  
 

   their duties in respect  
 

   of supporting victims  
 

 

5.4 The Board will continue to review online safety 

 of modern slavery  
 

 Online scams 1. Professionals  
 

 and access to digital platforms with particular and digital routinely consider  
 

 focus of ensuring equity of access to services safety task online and digital  
 

 for those not using digital platforms and finish safety in their care  
 

  group planning.  
 

   2. Residents will be  
 

   aware of online  
 

   safeguarding risks  
 

   and how to protect  
 

   themselves from  
 

   these  
 

   3. There are assurances  
 

   that residents who  
 

   do not use digital  
 

   platforms are not  
 

   excluded from  
 

   accessing support  
 

   and safeguarding  
 

   services  
 

     
  

 
 

 C
ity

 &
 H

a
c
k
n
e
y
 S

a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 A

d
u
lts

 B
o
a
rd  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p
o

rt 2
0

2
1
/2

2 

P
age 85



 

 

 5
8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

Principle 4: Partnership...  
 

 Priority Action Lead Intended Impact Update  
 

       
 

  5.5 The Safeguarding Adults Board, Safeguarding Safeguarding 1. Professionals   
 

  Children’s Partnership and Domestic Abuse Adults Board routinely consider   
 

  Service will develop a Think Family Approach Manager / the needs of all key   
 

  Protocol and establish a task and finish group Head of Adult family members   
 

  to embed the principles of Think Family Safeguarding when managing a   
 

   / Professional safeguarding case   
 

   Advisor for the 2. There is evidence of   
 

   Safeguarding collaborative working   
 

   Children’s 
  

 

   between adults and   
 

   Partnership   
 

   

children’s services 
  

 

   / Domestic   
 

   Abuse    
 

   Intervention    
 

  

5.6 The Board will work with the London Borough 

Service    
 

  Executive 1. Safeguarding   
 

  of Hackney and the City of London to ensure Group / influences the   
 

  that safeguarding issues arising from the Poverty Poverty Reduction   
 

  economic crisis are identified and addressed. Reduction Strategy   
 

   Strategy 
2. The Board is aware 

  
 

   

Leads 
  

 

   of arising issues   
 

       

    relating to the   
 

    economic crisis and   
 

    puts tools in place to   
 

  
5.7 The Board will work with the Sexual Violence QA Sub-Group 

mitigate this risk.   
 

  1. There are assurances   
 

  Lead at East London Foundation Trust to / East London that safeguarding   
 

  update the Board’s Sexuality and Consent Foundation concerns relating to   
 

  Guidance and raise awareness of this topic Trust sexual consent and   
 

    violence are reported   
 

    and responded to   
 

    appropriately   
 

       
  

 
 C

ity
 &

 H
a
c
k
n
e
y
 S

a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 A

d
u
lts

 B
o
a
rd  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p
o

rt 2
0

2
1
/2

2 

P
age 86



 

 

 

Priority Action Lead Intended Impact Update  
 

      
 

 5.8 The Independent Chair will review partners Independent 1. The work of the  

City 
 

 contributions to the Board and will identify Chair of the Board is evenly 
 

 

  

&
 

 

 

how key roles (e.g. chairing task and finish Safeguarding distributed across 
  

  

Hackney 

 

 and sub-groups) can be evenly distributed Adults Board Board partners and  
 

 amongst partners  strategic priorities  
 

   meet the needs of all  

BoardAdultsSafeguarding 

 

   partners.  
 

     
 

      
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 59 

2021/22ReportAnnual 

P
age 87



 

 

 6
0 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

Principle 5: Protection - “I get help and support to report abuse and neglect. I get help so that I am 

able to take part in the safeguarding process to the extent to which I want.” 
  

 Priority Action Lead Intended Impact Update  
       

 6. To support 6.1 The Board will review any recommendations Independent 1. There is a better   

 frontline made by King’s College London Communities Chair of the understanding   

 professionals of Practice on self-neglect and homelessness, Safeguarding across the   

 to respond to allocate actions to partners and review Adults Board partnerships on how   

 complex issues progress accordingly .  to support people   

 relating to self-   who experience self-   

 neglect.   neglect   

    2. There will  be   
    improved   

    interventions for   

    people who have   

    safeguarding needs   

    and also exhibit   

    anti-social behaviour   

    e.g support will be   

    offered at an earlier   

    stage.   

  6.2 The Board Manager will promote the Board's CHSAB 1. Professionals are   
  resources available to support staff to respond Manager given the tools to   

  to cases involving self-neglect.  ensure that they   

    can effectively   

    support residents   

    experiencing self-   

    neglect   

    2. There will be   
    improved outcomes   

    for people   

    experiencing self-   

    neglect   
 

 
 C

ity
 &

 H
a
c
k
n
e
y
 S

a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 A

d
u
lts

 B
o
a
rd  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p
o

rt 2
0

2
1
/2

2 

P
age 88



 

 

 

 Priority Action Lead Intended Impact Update  
 

        
 

  

6.1 A working group of Board partners will develop Adult Social 1. There will be better 
  

C
ity 

 

    
 

  a toolkit to support staff to respond to self- Care London outcomes for people 
  

 

    &
  

  

neglect and mental capacity issues. This toolkit Borough of who self-neglect 
   

    H
ac

kney 

 

  tools such as good practice case studies. City of London 2. Self-neglect is   
 

  will bring together existing tools as well as new Hackney & the     
 

   
Corporation / 

detected and    
 

   disrupted at an 
  

Safeguarding 

 

   East London   
 

   

earlier stage 
   

 

   Foundation    
 

   Trust /     
 

   Turning Point /    A
d
u
l

ts 

 

   North East    
 

   London CCG /    B
o
a
rd 

 

   London Fire    
 

  

7.1 Independent SAR Reviewers will complete and 

Brigade     
 

 7. To deliver and SAR sub- 1. The Board will be    
 

 implement publish learning for two Safeguarding Adults group able to evidence that    
 

 

recommendations Reviews that have been commissioned by the  it meets its statutory    
 

that arise in Board.  obligations effectively    
 

  

2. Learning from 

   
 

relation to both      
  

local, regional 
  reviews will help drive    

 

  the improvement of    
 

and national 
     

 

   adult safeguarding    
 

 Safeguarding   practice across the    
 

 Adults Reviews 

7.2 A roundtable review will be undertaken into SAR sub- 

City and Hackney.    
 

  1. There will be    
 

  fire deaths that have occurred in the London group assurances that    
 

  Borough of Hackney to assess how future fire  professionals    
 

  deaths can be prevented.  understand fire    
 

    safety risk and how    
 

    to manage this   A
n

n
ua
l 

 

    effectively   
 

    2. There will be a   R
e

p

o
rt 

 

    reduction in fire   
 61 

   related deaths in   2021/

22 

 

   Hackney   
 

       
 

        
  

P
age 89



 

 

 62 

Principle 5: Protection...    

City 

 

    

&
 

 

      

Hackney 

 

 Priority Action Lead Intended Impact Update 
 

  
 

       
 

  7.3 The SAR sub-group will review learning from SAR sub- 1. The Board will be  

Safeguarding 

 

  national and regional SARs and LeDeR group able to evidence that  
 

  reviews to identify whether there is any  it meets its statutory   
 

  learning that can be applied to the City and  obligations effectively   
 

  Hackney specifically any learning that has  
2. There is less risk 

  
 

  arisen from the Cawston Park Safeguarding 
  

Adults 

 

   that the same  
 

  

Adults Review 
   

 

   safeguarding  

Board 

 

    concerns will arise in  
 

    the City and Hackney   
 

 

      
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p
o

rt 2
0

2
1
/2

2 

P
age 90



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 6
3 

 
 

Principle 6: Accountability - “I understand the role of everyone involved in my life and 

so do they.” 
  

 Priority Action Lead Intended Impact Update  
 

       
 

 8. To ensure that all 8.1 The Board to undertake a Making QA sub-group 1. MSP has been   
 

 agencies across Safeguarding Personal temperature check with  embedded into   
 

 the City and all partners  practice properly   
 

 Hackney deliver   2. The Board can   
 

 their core duties   identify areas where   
 

 in relation to   MSP needs to be   
 

 safeguarding 

8.2 London Borough of Hackney Adult Social 

 strengthened   
 

  London 1. The Board will   
 

  Care will undertake a self-assessment of Borough of understand how well   
 

  adult safeguarding across their service in Hackney Adult adult safeguarding is   
 

  preparation for the forthcoming Care Quality Social Care / being embedded into   
 

  Commission assurance regime City of London practice   
 

   Corporation 
2. There will be 

  
 

   London 
  

 

   an action plan   
 

   Borough of   
 

   identifying how to   
 

   Hackney /   
 

   improve the adult   
 

   Executive 
  

 

   safeguarding   
 

   

Group 
  

 

   response to residents   
 

  8.3 The Board will raise awareness of the different East London 1. Professionals   
 

  roles and responsibilities of partner agencies Foundation will have better   
 

  whose core duties are not delivering statutory Trust / awareness of   
 

  duties. Metropolitan who can provide   
 

   Police Service/ support where adult   
 

   City of London safeguarding may   
 

   Police Service arise   
 

   / Housing 
2. There is clarity on 

  
 

   teams /   
 

   

who should lead 
  

 

   
Turning Point 

  
 

      
 

       
  

 
 C

ity
 &

 H
a
c
k
n
e
y
 S

a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 A

d
u
lts

 B
o
a
rd  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p
o

rt 2
0

2
1
/2

2 

P
age 91



 

 

 64 

Principle 6: Accountability... 
    C

i

ty  

     &
  

       H
ackney 

 

 Priority Action Lead Intended Impact Update  
 

   
 

        
 

    on and be involved   Safegua
rding 

 

    in managing adult   
 

    safeguarding    
 

  

8.4 The Board will promote a safeguarding first 

 enquiries    
 

  CHSAB 1. Professionals outside   A
d
u
lts 

 

  approach across the wider City of London Manager / Adult Social Care   
 

  Corporation and London Borough of Hackney Central will understand their   B
o
a
rd 

 

  to raise awareness of adult safeguarding and Learning and duties in respect of   
 

  duties around this. Development adult safeguarding    
 

   team London 2. Adults experiencing    
 

   

Borough of 
   

 

   abuse or neglect    
 

   

Hackney 
   

  

  will be identified    
 

  

and the City 
   

 

  and supported at an    
 

   

of London 
   

 

   

earlier stage 
   

 

   Corporation 
   

  

 

8.5 To deliver a series of learning sessions on 1. The Board will 
   

 

  CHSAB    
 

  the law relating to safeguarding, specifically Manager / be assured that    
 

  ensuring that this is practical in nature to help London professionals are    
 

  build confidence in understanding legislation. Borough of delivering their    
 

   Hackney/ statutory functions    
 

   Assistant in respect of adult    
 

   Director, safeguarding    
 

   Quality     
 

   Assurance,     
 

   Safeguarding    A
n

n
ua
l 

 

   and Workforce    
 

   Development /    R
e

p

o
rt 

 

   Head of    
 

   Service ASC    2021/

22 

 

   City of London    
 

   Corporation/     
 

   

London 
    

 

       
 

   Borough of     
 

   Hackney     
  

P
age 92



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
65 Page 93



 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
66  Page 94



 

 

 
 

 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board 

1 Hillman Street   

Hackney  

London  

E8 1DY 
 

 Email: CHSAB@hackney.gov.uk   

 Tel: 020 8356 6498  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Design and printed by Hackney Council • July 2022 • HDS15712 Page 95

mailto:CHSAB@hackney.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 96


	Agenda
	3a Note of inquorate meeting - 27 September 2022
	3b Minutes - 21 July 2022
	4 Workplan
	5 Annual Terms of Reference Review
	Appendix 1 - HSCS ToR November Revision

	7 City and Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021/22
	Appendix 1 - CHSAB Annual Report


